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ProCredit Bank is a development-oriented commercial bank. We offer excellent customer service 
to small and medium enterprises and to private individuals who have the capacity to save and who 
prefer to do their banking through electronic channels. In our operations, we adhere to a number of 
core principles: We value transparency in our communication with our customers, we do not promote 
consumer lending, we strive to minimise our ecological footprint, and we provide services which are 
based both on an understanding of each client’s situation and on sound financial analysis.

 We focus on small and medium-sized enterprises, as we are convinced that these businesses 
create jobs and make a vital contribution to the economies in which they operate. By offering simple 
and accessible deposit facilities and online banking services and by investing in financial education, 
we aim to promote a culture of saving and financial responsibility among business clients as well as 
private individuals.

 Our shareholders expect a sustainable return on investment over the long term, rather than being 
focused on short-term profit maximisation. We invest extensively in the training and development 
of our staff in order to create an open and efficient working atmosphere and to provide friendly and 
competent service for our clients.

Mission Statement

3M I S S I O N S TAT E M E N T



4 a nnua l re p or t 20 18



Part of the general mission of the ProCredit group is to set standards in the financial sectors in which we 
operate. We want to make a difference – through the target group we serve, the quality of our financial 
services, and the business ethics upon which we base our actions. The following principles guide the 
operation of the ProCredit institutions.

Transparency: We provide our clients and employees with transparent information. For example, we ensure 
that customers fully understand the terms of the contracts they conclude with us. Furthermore, we engage 
in financial education in order to raise public awareness of the dangers of intransparent financial offers.

A culture of open communication: We communicate openly, fairly and constructively with one another. We 
deal with conflicts at work in a professional manner, working together to find a solution.

Social responsibility and tolerance: We offer our clients sound, well-founded advice. Before offering loans 
to our clients, we assess their financial situation, their business potential and their repayment capacity in 
order to avoid overindebting them and to provide them with the financial services most appropriate to their 
situation. In addition, we are committed to treating all customers and employees with fairness and respect, 
regardless of their origin, colour, language, gender or religious beliefs.

We also ensure that compliance with our ethical business practices is considered when reviewing loan 
applications. No loans are issued to enterprises or individuals if it is suspected that they are involved in any 
unsafe, environmentally harmful or morally objectionable activities or forms of labour.

High professional standards: Our employees take personal responsibility for the quality of their work and 
always strive to grow as professionals.

Personal integrity and commitment: Complete honesty is required of all employees in the ProCredit group 
at all times and any breaches of this principle are dealt with swiftly and rigorously. 

These principles represent the backbone of our corporate culture and are actively applied in our day to day 
operations. They are reflected in the ProCredit Code of Conduct, which translates the group’s principles into 
practical guidelines for our staff.

Business ethics
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ProCredit Holding is the parent company to a global 
group of banks and was founded as Internationale 
Micro Investitionen AG (IMI) in 1998 by the pioneering 
development finance consultancy company IPC, the 
forerunner of ProCredit Holding’s major shareholder 
Zeitinger Invest GmbH

ProCredit Holding is committed to expanding access 
to financial services in developing countries and 
transition economies by building a group of banks that 
are the leading providers of fair, transparent financial 
services for small and medium-sized businesses as 
well as the general population in their countries of 
operation. It ensures that ProCredit corporate values, 
international best practice procedures and Basel II risk 
management principles are implemented group-wide in 
line with standards also set by the German supervisory 
authorities.

Zeitinger Invest GmbH is the leading shareholder 
and strategic investor in ProCredit Holding. Zeitinger 
Invest GmbH (and its forerunner IPC) has been the 
driving entrepreneurial force behind the ProCredit 
group since the foundation of the banks.

ProCredit Holding is a public-private partnership. In 
addition to Zeitinger Invest GmbH and ProCredit Staff 
Invest, the other private shareholders of ProCredit 

Holding include the Dutch DOEN Foundation, the 
US pension fund TIAA-CREF, the US Omidyar-Tufts 
Microfinance Fund, and the Swiss investment fund 
ResponsAbility. The public shareholders of ProCredit 
Holding include KfW (the German promotional bank), 
IFC (the private sector arm of the World Bank), FMO (the 
Dutch development bank), BIO (the Belgian Investment 
Company for Developing Countries) and Proparco 
(the French Investment and Promotions company for 
Economic Cooperation).

The legal form of ProCredit Holding is a so-called 
KGaA (Kommanditgesellschaft auf Aktien, or in English 
a partnership limited by shares). This is a legal form not 
uncommonly used in Germany which can basically be 
regarded as a joint stock company in which the role 
of the management board is assumed by a General 
Partner, and in which the General Partner has consent 
rights over certain key shareholder decisions. In the 
case of ProCredit Holding, the General Partner is a 
small separate company which is owned by the core 
shareholders of ProCredit Holding AG & Co. KGaA: 
Zeitinger Invest GmbH, ProCredit Staff Invest, DOEN, 
KfW and IFC. The KGaA structure will allow ProCredit 
Holding to raise capital in the future without unduly 
diluting the influence of core shareholders in ensuring 
the group maintains dual goals: development impact 
and commercial success.

Basic information of ProCredit Bank

Shareholde Amount of nominal
 value (EUR)   

Number of shares  in %

ProCredit Holding 61,346,210 12,269,242 100
Total 61,346,210 12,269,242 100
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Business Clients 

Providing services to SMEs remains our bank’s main 
focus, as we are convinced that these businesses gen-
erate the largest number of jobs and make an essential 
contribution to the economies in which they operate. 
Our approach to managing relationships with business 
clients and the professionalism of our Business Client 
Advisers (BCAs) leads to a better understanding of our 
clients’ needs, their business and their financial capac-
ity, and enables us to provide appropriate financial ser-
vices and efficient financing. The bank places particular 
emphasis on providing sound financial services.

In line with the group strategy, the bank has developed 
a special business concept for its clients, the “Haus-
bank” principle. This concept entails not only providing 
loans and other financial services to our business 

clients, but also providing a broad range of modern fi-
nancial services that businesses require in order to ex-
pand. These services include an advanced e-Banking 
platform, which clients can use to perform domestic 
and international transfers in a fast and secure man-
ner at a low cost as well as make payroll payments and 
other large payments. Clients can also use e-Banking 
to pay invoices and customs fees and to manage their 
loans and credit lines. They are also provided with bank 
cards, which can be used at POS terminals, for trade fi-
nancing purposes and last but not least, to access 24/7 
Zones, the most modern development in the banking 
sector in Kosovo.

Our services help businesses expand and operate 
more efficiently, thus providing sustainability. The bank 
aims to have a long-term partnership with SMEs and fol-

Key Business segments 
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low their development. These elements, combined with 
sound business advice, are the foundation of our suc-
cessful business model.

We continue to place special emphasis on the promo-
tion of other banking services for our clients. In order 
to fulfil the needs of our business clients, we have con-
tinued to develop and improve the services provided 
in our 24/7 Zones. What makes these facilities unique 
is the high-tech equipment, which provides our clients 
with greater efficiency and flexibility. At 24/7 Zones, 
business clients can not only withdraw funds around 
the clock seven days a week but they can also deposit 
their turnover of up to EUR 10,000 per day at cash-in 
ATMs as well as deposit larger amounts in drop boxes 
and coins at special ATMs. In addition, the bank has in-
tegrated the latest technological developments into the 
e-Banking platform in order to meet the needs of SMEs.
In 2018, the bank continued to invest in the further de-
velopment of our BCAs, as they are the key to develop-
ing long-term professional relationships with our busi-
ness clients in that they provide them with the best and 
most professional service available.

During 2018, the bank also focused on stimulating and 
promoting investment loans for SMEs with particular 
emphasis on manufacturing companies, thus achiev-
ing higher market participation in the manufacturing 
sector. Furthermore, in 2018, the business portfolio 

increased by EUR 30 million, while the total volume of 
business loans reached EUR 383.1 million.

As a bank committed to responsible banking practices, 
ProCredit applies strict environmental standards. The 
bank has continued to provide clients with “green 
loans” — a term used to describe financial services 
related to investments in energy-saving technology, 
renewable energies, and other eco-friendly measures. 
In 2018, we encouraged our business clients to under-
take investments in solar power panels, modernise 
their production machinery, and implement measures 
designed to lower water or air pollution. The green loan 
portfolio for business clients stood at EUR 69.9 million, 
accounting for 18.2% of the bank’s total portfolio.

In addition to supporting short- and medium-term 
business investments, we will continue to focus on 
promoting long-term investments, especially those 
made by manufacturing businesses, and ecologically 
friendly investments. The bank will also continue to 
provide quality services at our 24/7 Zones and on our 
e-Banking platform with the aim of providing our clients 
with a more efficient means of doing business. The 
goal of ProCredit Bank remains being the “Hausbank” 
for SMEs and establishing long-term cooperation with 
these businesses.
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Private Clients

2018 was a very important year for the bank in terms of 
its positioning towards private clients. Ongoing invest-
ments in technology and process automation enabled 
easier and more convenient access for clients: ProCredit 
Bank continued to focus on providing electronic/digital 
platforms that offer clients more flexibility in managing 
their finances, including doing so from the comfort of 
their home or office. 

Many banking services have been automated in the past 
few years, and in 2018 ProCredit Bank expanded op-
portunities for clients to use these services through ad-
vancements in the “e-Banking” platform. Improvements 
made to this platform, along with the professional qualifi
cations of ProCredit Bank advisers, have made it possi-
ble for clients to do their banking at any time and from 
any place. 

At the same time, ProCredit continuously supports the 
investment plans of its private clients, with a focus 
on housing loans, so that these clients can purchase 
homes or build their family wealth. At the end of 2018, 
the share of housing loans increased from 30% to 41%, 
with ProCredit Bank positioning itself on the market as 
a highly reliable partner for all private clients wishing to 
invest in property. 

Private Clients - Deposits

In addition to its commitment to financial education, 
ProCredit Bank aims at promoting a culture of sav-
ing by providing high-quality financial advice. In 2018, 
bank deposits were in line with liquidity planning and 
implementation of the direct banking strategy. The de-
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posit portfolio remained diversified, with deposits from 
private clients amounting to EUR 465 million. ProCredit 
Bank will continue to highlight the importance of saving 
for all its private clients. 

Direct Banking

ProCredit’s direct banking strategy, which is based on 
advanced technology, provides clients with a full bank-
ing service package that is safe and efficient. The bank 
began to implement its direct banking strategy in 2017, 
when the 24/7 Zones, which provide a wide range of 
services, were rolled out. Even though the 24/7 Zones 
reached highly satisfactory usage levels, in 2018 the 
bank’s objective was to provide direct banking services 

to facilitate and further cater to clients’ needs for reliabil-
ity and convenience. To this end, ProCredit Bank played 
an active role in advancing its numerous online plat-
forms to increase efficiency. Opening a current account 
and savings account through the ProCredit Bank web-
site is quick and easy; many clients greatly appreciate 
the flexibility of this option. The use of internet services 
provided by ProCredit Bank grew steadily throughout the 
year. 

In 2018, the Contact Centre remained committed to 
serving clients rapidly and efficiently, mainly advising 
them about the bank’s financial services and electronic 
platforms. Thus, clients not only have the opportunity to 
execute their transactions through electronic channels, 
but also to obtain financial advisory services whenever 
they need them. 
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Credit risk management for 2018

The core business of ProCredit Bank is providing 
financial support to small and medium-sized business 
clients (SMEs) as well as to private clients who prioritise 
saving and favour long-term investments. Given the 
business focus of our bank, credit risk represents the 
most significant risk we face.

The bank’s basic principles for managing credit risk 
are set forth in the Credit Risk Management Policy 
and Collateral Valuation Policy, which are based on 
ProCredit group policies. Taken together, these policies 
reflect the experience of the group’s successful lending 
operations in developing and transition economies. 
These documents are in full compliance with the laws 
and regulations of Kosovo.

During the credit risk management process, the 
bank applies various principles to mitigate credit risk 
by intensively analysing our clients’ debt capacity. 
This includes implementing measures to avoid 
overindebting the client, regularly monitoring credit 
exposures, and closely managing problem credit 
exposures. Furthermore, the implementation of 
carefully designed and well-documented processes, 
the application of the four-eyes principle, building long-
term relationships and maintaining regular contact with 
clients, as well as investing in well-trained and highly 
motivated staff, contribute to the mitigation of credit 
risk.

In addition, prudent credit portfolio analysis is one of 
our most important competencies. This is always critical 
and relevant to the bank and the group as a whole due 
to the very dynamic macroeconomic environments in 
which we operate. Furthermore, the bank has improved 
the loan portfolio supervising system with regard to 
identifying and managing potential issues at a very 
early stage. To enable this, the system was adjusted 
to reflect International Financial Reporting Standard 
9 (IFRS 9). The bank also continuously engages in 
analysing the markets of various economic sectors.

Moreover, credit risk is mitigated by the fact that the 
bank’s credit portfolio is highly diversified, and any 
potential concentration of credit risk is thoroughly 
tested for its impact on the bank’s ability to absorb 
it. With regard to client groups, our diverse portfolio 
includes small and medium-sized businesses, private 
clients and institutions. The approach taken by the 
bank also seeks to provide clients with simple, easy-

to-understand services. This leads to a high degree of 
transparency not only for clients, but also from a risk 
management perspective. Both the high degree of 
diversification and simple, transparent services and 
procedures reduce the overall risk profile of the bank.

Different methods of credit risk management are 
applied when dealing with different categories of 
clients and credit exposures. The key features of these 
processes are as follows: the segregation of tasks for 
small and medium credit exposures, the application 
of standardised and tested procedures in lending to 
private clients, the identification of criteria for credit 
decisions, and the application of different collateral 
requirements based on loan amounts, as well as 
thorough documentation of the client’s credit history. 
Furthermore, the evaluation of collateral is conducted 
by external licensed companies, which decreases 
collateral valuation risk.

Considering that the vast majority of the bank’s loans are 
repayable in monthly instalments, a borrower’s failure 
to meet a payment deadline is treated as an initial sign 
of potential default and draws an immediate response 
from the bank. The new process of monitoring, which 
utilises early warning indicators, enables the bank to 
immediately respond to any sign of potential default.

During 2018, the key indicators of loan portfolio quality 
continued to exhibit a positive trend, thereby reflecting 
the high quality of the bank’s loan portfolio. The rate of 
non-performing loans at the end of the year stood at 
2.4%, which is clearly below the 2.7% average of the 
financial sector in Kosovo.

ProCredit Bank Kosovo follows a conservative approach 
to loan loss provisioning. The tolerances for important 
individual exposures exhibiting signs of impairment are 
assessed on an individual and regular basis. The rate of 
non-performing loan coverage to loan loss allowances 
(provisioning) stood at 214.1%, which is a high level of 
coverage.

Risk Management 
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Managing counterparty risk

     In order to manage liquidity risk and other operational 
activities, ProCredit Bank keeps a portion of its assets 
as liquid investments with external counterparties, 
including issuers of securities. In this case, the bank is 
exposed to the risk that these parties may not be able to 
meet their obligations towards the bank.

     We actively manage this risk by applying policies on 
counterparty risk management, liquidity management, 
treasury, investments, etc. These policies and other 
bank procedures detail the careful selection processes 
applied when choosing counterparties. These 
documents also determine the limits of exposures 
with counterparties as well as the types of transactions 
allowed, the methods of controlling and monitoring, 
processing rules, etc.

     ProCredit Bank has a relatively low risk tolerance and 
does not engage in speculative trading activities. Our 
counterparties are mainly institutions with a high credit 
rating, a good reputation and a high level of financial 
sustainability. In principle, no exposure or agreement 
may be made without determining a limit in advance. 
These are determined by means of a thorough analysis 
by the bank and are reviewed on an annual basis. The 
bank’s policies and procedures are in accordance with 
the regulations of the Central Bank of the Republic of 
Kosovo.

Managing the liquidity and funding risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the bank will not be able 
to meet its current and future obligations in full or in a 
timely manner. Funding risk is the risk that additional 
financing can only be obtained at very high interest 
rates or not at all.

ProCredit Bank manages these risks through its 
policies and procedures in accordance with regulatory 
authority requirements. In addition, controlling and 
reducing liquidity risk is supported by our business 
model. On the one hand, the loan portfolio is 
characterised by a large number of short- and medium-
term exposures. Most of these loans are disbursed 
as annuity loans and are of high quality. From the 
perspective of liquidity risk, this leads to diversified 
and predictable inflows. On the other hand, deposits 
from clients are our main source of funding, so the use 
of financial market instruments is low.

As part of liquidity management, the bank has 
defined and continuously monitors its liquidity 
indicators. We also regularly conduct liquidity stress 
tests based on defined scenarios that help the bank 
analyse its liquidity positions in the event of potential 
internal or external shocks. The bank considers funding 
risk to be low, due to the diversity of client deposits 
and the fact that the bank continues to have access to 
financing from various international sources.

Foreign currency risk 

Foreign currency risk implies the risk of negative effects 
on the financial results and capital adequacy of an 
institution caused by changes in the exchange rate. 
ProCredit Bank manages this type of risk in accordance 
with the Risk Management of Foreign Currency Policy, 
which is compliant with CBK regulations. Currency 
positions are managed on a daily basis and foreign 
exchange rates are monitored continuously.

As we hold no speculative open currency positions, 
ProCredit Bank has a low level of exposure to currency 
risk. Furthermore, the limits set for these risks were 
never exceeded in 2018.

Managing interest rate risk 

Interest rate risk arises from structural differences 
between the repricing maturities of assets and 
liabilities. This can expose the bank to the risk of 
potential increases in funding costs, while the return 
on assets might remain the same, or decrease, thus not 
reflecting the reduction of financing costs for a longer 
period, resulting in a decrease of the margin.

The bank has a relevant policy in place for this type of 
risk. We continuously analyse the maturity gap between 
assets and liabilities (based on the re-definition of 
prices). In addition, the bank applies stress tests by 
simulating interest rate fluctuations in order to measure 
the influence on economic value and interest income. 
The results of such analyses are regularly reported to 
the Financial Risk and Market Management Committee 
at the bank level and to the Management Board.
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Anti-money laundering

ProCredit Bank applies international best practices in 
order to prevent the Bank’s services from being used 
for money laundering or other illegal activities, such 
as terrorist financing. As a strong supporter of the fight 
against these crimes, our institution applies the Know 
Your Client principle and establishes banking relations 
only with clients it has duly verified and whose activities 
it is sure do not violate our ethical values and business 
model.

To make sure that ProCredit Bank fully complies 
with the requirements and obligations set forth under 
Kosovo banking industry legislation, regulations, 
and instructions, we have developed anti-money 
laundering policies and procedures. In addition to local 
policies, ProCredit Bank has implemented the Group 
Anti-money Laundering Policy and the Group Customer 
Due Diligence Standard, which meet the requirements 
of German and EU legislation. Moreover, ProCredit Bank 
applies the FATF recommendations on risk assessment, 
by analysing the risks posed by money laundering 
and taking adequate preventive measures. ProCredit 
also complies with EU Regulation 2015/847 in order to 
ensure transparency in all payment transactions.

In our bank, the authority vested with the 
responsibility to fight money laundering is the 
Anti-Money Laundering Unit, which oversees the 
implementation of legal requirements, group 
policies, and training related to this field. In addition 
to the employees in the AML Unit, the entire bank 
staff receives intensive training (both national and 
international) on the most recent updates in the field 
of combating money laundering and terrorist financing. 

The Bank also uses sophisticated software which 
makes it possible to detect potentially suspicious 
transactions and to comply with international 
sanctions. The software (Siron® AML, Siron® PEP 
and Siron® Embargo) is manufactured by the German 
company Tonbeller. 

Capital adequacy

The bank’s capital adequacy is calculated on a regular 
basis and reported to Management via the Risk and 
Market Management Committee along with forecasts. 
This ensures future compliance with regulatory 
requirements on capital adequacy. Management of 
capital adequacy is undertaken based on the bank’s 
policies and in accordance with the pertinent Central 
Bank regulations.

 
Operational risk and fraud risk
 

Operational risk, in accordance with the Basel 
Committee on Banking Supervision, is defined by 
the bank as the risk of loss resulting from inadequate 
or failed internal processes, people or systems or 
from external events. This definition includes, in 
particular, fraud risk, IT risk, legal risk, reputational 
risk and outsourcing risk. The bank implements a 
set of principles for operational risk and fraud risk 
management throughout the institution via specific 
policies whose principles are in compliance with 
regulatory requirements.

The main tools used by the bank to manage 
operational risks are the Risk Event Database (RED), 
annual risk assessments, key risk indicators (KRI) and 
the analysis of all new services and processes using the 
New Risk Approval (NRA) process.

The bank uses operational and fraud risk 
assessments to identify, assess and monitor 
operational risks at all levels. In accordance with 
Basel II, the bank continuously assesses operational 
risks that could arise from its services, processes 
and systems. Additionally, the bank’s internal control 
system includes deficiency mitigation procedures, 
including necessary corrective and preventive actions. 
To keep information technology risks to a minimum, 
the bank implements procedures to safeguard its IT 
structure, ensure business continuity, and strengthen 
information security.

Furthermore, the bank provides training on the Code 
of Conduct, as this binding document emphasises the 
importance of staff integrity and promotes a culture 
of transparency and risk awareness. The principles of 
operational risk, fraud and information security are 
addressed during regular staff and risk awareness 
training on all levels.
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Academy. Currently, 23 other employees are enrolled in 
these programmes (12 at the Banker Academy and 11 at 
the Management Academy).

English courses for all levels are also provided to 
our staff, as English is the second working language 
at ProCredit. In the last three years, an average of 59 
employees have participated in these courses per year, 
namely at the Veles Language Centre in Macedonia and 
the Language Centre in Fürth, Germany.

Other specialised training

Additional training carried out in 2018 included 48 
specialised courses and other types of training.

In all, ProCredit Bank Kosovo invested nearly EUR 
800,000 in staff training and development in 2018. This 
translates into an annual average investment of EUR 
2,400 per employee. In addition, the average number 
of training days in Kosovo and abroad stood at 7,100. 
Thus, each employee was provided with 21 days of 
training on average in 2018.

In line with its mission, ProCredit Bank believes 
that a high level of commitment on the part of staff is 
the key to achieving its business objectives. These 
targets cannot be reached without a team of motivated, 
dedicated, and well-trained employees. Therefore, 
the bank continuously invests in staff development. 
Beginning with a transparent and fair recruitment and 
selection process, job candidates and employees alike 
are given various training opportunities.

Staff development training is divided into three 
main components: training at the ProCredit Academies, 
English courses at the ProCredit Language Centres, and 
all other specialised training.

ProCredit Academies and Language Centres  

Advanced training is given at the ProCredit Academy 
in Fürth, Germany. The two programmes offered 
to selected employees are the ProCredit Banker 
Academy, a fourteen-week training programme, and 
the ProCredit Management Academy, a three-year part-
time programme. In 2018, 15 employees graduated 
from these academies: 11 from the ProCredit Banker 
Academy and 4 from the ProCredit Management 
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Onboarding Programme

At ProCredit, supporting new employees is of 
particular importance. For this reason, ProCredit Bank 
implemented the ProCredit Onboarding Programme in 
2011. By the end of 2018, 24 groups of new hires from 
ProCredit Bank Kosovo, consisting of 2,019 candidates, 
had successfully completed the programme.

The Onboarding Programme is conducted in English 
and is attended by candidates from all the countries 
in which ProCredit operates. The programme lasts 
six months and provides candidates from various 
educational backgrounds with unique opportunities for 
comprehensive development and employment.

Building relationships 

As in previous years, internships at the bank were 
offered twice, during the summer and winter, to students 
from state and private universities. As internships are a 
mandatory requirement at the majority of universities 
in Kosovo, ProCredit Bank plays an important role in 
financial education in the country by providing students 
with internship opportunities.

Every year, around 100 students are offered 1- to 
3-month internships at the bank, which enables them 
to put the theoretical knowledge they have obtained at 
university into practice. This makes it possible for these 
students to integrate into the labour market more easily 
at a later date.
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Independent Auditor’s Report and  Financial Statements prepared in

accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards

For the year ended 31 December 2018

General Information 

Board of Directors:

• Mr. Borislav Kostadinov, Chairperson

• Mr. Marcel Zeitinger, Member

• Mr. Rainer Ottenstein, Member

• Mr. Jordan Damchevski, Member 

• Mr. Luan Gashi, Member

• Mr. Ilir Aliu, Member and CEO of the Bank

Registered adress
ProCredit Bank,Kosovo 
St. George Bush,No.26 
10000 Pristina,
Republic of Kosovo
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the Shareholder and Board of Directors of ProCredit Bank Sh.a

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of ProCredit 
Bank Sh.a (the “Bank”), which comprise the statement 
of financial position as at December 31, 2018, and 
the statement profit or loss and other comprehensive 
income, statement of changes in equity and statement 
of cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2018, 
and notes to the financial statements, including a 
summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in 
all material respects, the financial position of the Bank 
as at December 31, 2018, and its financial performance 
and its cash flows for the year the ended in accordance 
with International Financial Reporting Standards.

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International 
Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities 
under those standards are further described in the 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial 
Statements section of our report. We are independent 
of the Bank in accordance with International Ethics 
Standards Board for Accountants Code of Ethics for 
Professional Accountants (IESBA Code) and with the 
ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the 
financial statements in Kosova, and we have fulfilled 
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with 
these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence 
we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion.

Other matter

The Bank has prepared a separate set of financial 
statements for the year ended December 31, 2018 
in accordance with the Rules and Regulations of the 
Central Bank of the Republic of Kosovo, on which 
we have issued a separate auditor’s report to the 
Shareholder and Board of Directors of the Bank dated 
on April 19, 2019.

The financial statements of the Bank for the year ended 
December 31, 2017, were audited by another auditor 
who expressed an unmodified opinion on those 
statements on April 30, 2018.

Other Information 

Management is responsible for the other information. 
The other information comprises the information 
included in the Annual Report of the Bank in accordance 
with the requirements of the Law No. 04/L-093. The 
Annual Report of the Bank is expected to be made 
available to us after the date of our audit report. Our 
opinion on the financial statements does not cover the 
other information and we will not express any form of 
assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, 
our responsibility is to read the other information 
identified above when it becomes available and, in 
doing so, consider whether the other information is 
materially inconsistent with the financial statements 
or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise 
appears to be materially misstated.  When we read the 
Annual Report of the Bank, if we conclude that there 
is a material misstatement therein, we are required 
to communicate the matter to those charged with 
governance.

Responsibilities of Management and Those 
Charged with Governance for the Financial 
Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation 
and fair presentation of the financial statements in 
accordance with IFRSs, and for such internal control 
as management determines is necessary to enable the 
preparation of financial statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial statements, management is 
responsible for assessing the Bank’s ability to continue 
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters 
related to going concern and using the going concern 
basis of accounting unless management either intends 
to liquidate the Bank or to cease operations, or has no 
realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for 
overseeing the Bank’s financial reporting process.
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Deloitte Kosova sh.p.k. Engagement Partner:
Str. Lidhja e Pejes, no. 177, Arta Limani
Prishtina, Republic of Kosovo
Unique Identification No.: 810468373
April 19, 2019

Engagement Partner:
Arta Limani

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due 
to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high 
level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit 
conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect 
a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements 
can arise from fraud or error and are considered 
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could 
reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial 
statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise 
professional judgment and maintain professional 
scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement 
of the financial statements, whether due to fraud 
or error, design and perform audit procedures 
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence 
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for 
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, 
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or 
the override of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant 
to the audit in order to design audit procedures that 
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness 
of the Bank’s internal control.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies 
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 
and related disclosures made by management.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s 
use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based 
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material 
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions 
that may cast significant doubt on the Bank’s ability 
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that 
a material uncertainty exists, we are required to 
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related 
disclosures in the financial statements or, if such 
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our 
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained 
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future 
events or conditions may cause the Bank to cease to 
continue as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and 
content of the financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the financial statements 
represent the underlying transactions and events in a 
manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance 
regarding, among other matters, the planned scope 
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, 
including any significant deficiencies in internal control 
that we identify during our audit.
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PROCREDIT BANK SH.A.

STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

For the year ended 31 December 2018

The statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income is to be read in conjunction with the notes to and forming part 
of the financial statements set out on pages 5 to 64.
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PROCREDIT BANK SH.A.

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

For the year ended 31 December 2018

The statement of financial position is to be read in conjunction with the notes to and forming part of the financial statements 
set out on pages 5 to 64.

These financial statements have been approved by the Management Board on 19 April 2019 and signed on their behalf by:

Eriola Bibolli
Deputy Chief Executive Officer

Yll Dushi
Head of Finance Department
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PROCREDIT BANK SH.A.

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

For the year ended 31 December 2018

The statement of cash flows is to be read in conjunction with the notes to and forming part of the financial statements set out 
on pages 5 to 64.
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PROCREDIT BANK SH.A.

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the year ended 31 December 2018

The statement of changes in equity is to be read in conjunction with the notes to and forming part of the financial statements 
set out on pages 5 to 64.
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PROCREDIT BANK SH.A.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2018

1. INTRODUCTION

ProCredit Bank sh.a. Kosovo (“the Bank”) was 
incorporated in the Republic of Kosovo on 9 December 
1999 as a joint stock company. The Bank began its 
operations on 12 January 2000.

The Bank is a fully owned subsidiary of the ProCredit 
Holding AG& Co. KGaA (ProCredit Holding).

Principal activity The Bank was licensed to operate as a 
bank in all banking fields in Kosovo according to the rules 
of the Central Bank of Kosovo (former Central Banking 
Authority of Kosovo) (“CBK”) and is currently subject to 
the Law “On Banks, Microfinance Institutions and Non-
Bank Financial Institutions”, No. 04/L-093. ProCredit 
Bank, was the first licensed bank in Kosovo. ProCredit 
Bank sh.a. is a development-oriented commercial bank 
which offers customer services to small and medium 
enterprises and to private individuals. In its operations, 
it adheres to a number of core principles: it values 
transparency in its communication with customers; 
seeks to minimise ecological footprint; and, to provide 
services which are based both on an understanding of 
each client’s situation and a sound financial analysis.

Registered address and place of business The 
Bank’s registered address is Str. “George Bush”, No 
26, 10000 Prishtina, Republic of Kosovo. During 2018, 
apart from offering online services via e-Banking 
platform and website service, the Bank operated with 
branches, service points, Contact Centre and 24/7 
(self-service) Zones, in order to provide customers with 
comprehensive and more accessible services.

Board of Directors:
• Mr. Borislav Kostadinov, Chairperson
• Mr. Marcel Zeitinger, Member
• Mr. Rainer Ottenstein, Member
• Mr. Jordan Damchevski, Member
• Mr. Luan Gashi, Member
• Mr. Ilir Aliu, Member

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a) Basis of preparation

Statement of compliance. These financial statements 
have been prepared in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) under the 
historical cost convention, as modified by the 
revaluation of investment securities measured at FVOCI 

(All amounts expressed in EUR thousand, unless otherwise stated)

(2017: investment securities available for sale). The 
principal accounting policies applied in the preparation 
of these financial statements are set out below. These 
policies have been consistently applied to all the 
periods presented, unless otherwise stated.

Use of judgements and estimates. In preparing 
these financial statements, management has made 
judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect 
the application of the Bank’s accounting policies and 
the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income 
and expenses. Actual results may differ from these 
estimates. Estimates and underlying assumptions are 
reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to estimates 
are recognised prospectively. Information about 
significant areas of estimation uncertainty and critical 
judgements in applying accounting policies that have 
the most significant effect on the amounts recognised 
in the financial statements are described in notes 4, 5 
and 6.

Functional and presentation currency. These financial 
statements are presented in EUR, which is the Bank’s 
functional currency, currency of the primary economic 
environment in which the entity operates. All amounts 
have been rounded to the nearest thousands, except 
when otherwise indicated.

(b) Interest

Applicable from January 1, 2018

Effective interest rate

Interest income and expense are recognised in profit or 
loss using the effective interest method. The ‘effective 
interest rate’ is the rate that exactly discounts estimated 
future cash payments or receipts through the expected 
life of the financial instrument to:

• the gross carrying amount of the financial asset; or
• the amortised cost of the financial liability.

When calculating the effective interest rate for financial 
instruments other than purchased or originated credit-
impaired assets, the Bank estimates future cash 
flows considering all contractual terms of the financial 
instrument, but not ECL. For purchased or originated 
credit-impaired financial assets, a credit-adjusted 
effective interest rate is calculated using estimated 
future cash flows including ECL.
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The calculation of the effective interest rate includes 
transaction costs and fees and points paid or received 
that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. 
Transaction costs include incremental costs that are 
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of a 
financial asset or financial liability.

Amortised cost and gross carrying amount

The ‘amortized cost’ of a financial asset or financial 
liability is the amount at which the financial asset or 
financial liability is measured on initial recognition 
minus the principal repayments, plus or minus the 
cumulative amortization using the effective interest 
method of any difference between that initial amount 
and the maturity amount and, for financial assets, 
adjusted for any expected credit loss allowance (or 
impairment allowance before 1 January 2018).

The ‘gross carrying amount of a financial asset’ is the 
amortised cost of a financial asset before adjusting for 
any expected credit loss allowance.

Calculation of interest income and expense

The effective interest rate of a financial asset or 
financial liability is calculated on initial recognition of 
a financial asset or a financial liability. In calculating 
interest income and expense, the effective interest 
rate is applied to the gross carrying amount of the 
asset (when the asset is not credit-impaired) or to the 
amortised cost of the liability. The effective interest rate 
is revised as a result of periodic re-estimation of cash 
flows of floating rate instruments to reflect movements 
in market rates of interest. The effective interest rate 
is also revised for fair value hedge adjustments at the 
date amortization of the hedge adjustment begins.

However, for financial assets that have become credit-
impaired subsequent to initial recognition, interest 
income is calculated by applying the effective interest 
rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset. If the 
asset is no longer credit-impaired, then the calculation 
of interest income reverts to the gross basis.

For financial assets that were credit-impaired on initial 
recognition, interest income is calculated by applying 
the credit-adjusted effective interest rate to the 
amortised cost of the asset. The calculation of interest 
income does not revert to a gross basis, even if the 
credit risk of the asset improves.

Applicable before January 1, 2018

Interest income and expense are recognised in profit or 
loss using the effective interest method. The effective 
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts the 
estimated future cash payments and receipts through 
the expected life of the financial asset or financial 
liability (or, where appropriate, a shorter period) to 
the carrying amount of the financial asset or financial 
liability. When calculating the effective interest rate, 
the Bank estimates future cash flows considering all 
contractual terms of the financial instrument, but not 
future credit losses. The calculation of the effective 
interest rate includes transaction costs and fees and 
points paid or received that are an integral part of 
the effective interest rate. Transaction costs include 
incremental costs that are directly attributable to the 
acquisition or issue of a financial asset or financial 
liability.

When loans and other debt instruments become 
doubtful of collection, they are written down to the 
present value of expected cash inflows and interest 
income is thereafter recorded for the unwinding of the 
present value discount based on the asset’s effective 
interest rate which was used to measure the impairment 
loss.

Interest income and expense presented in the 
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive 
income include:

• interest on financial assets and financial liabilities 
measured at amortised cost calculated on an effective 
interest basis; and
• interest on investment in securities available for sale 
calculated on an effective interest basis.

(c) Fees and commissions

Fees integral to the effective interest rate include 
origination fees received or paid by the entity relating 
to the creation or acquisition of a financial asset or 
issuance of a financial liability, for example fees for 
evaluating creditworthiness, evaluating and recording 
guarantees or collateral, negotiating the terms of the 
instrument and for processing transaction documents. 
Commitment fees received by the Bank to originate 
loans at market interest rates are integral to the effective 
interest rate if it is probable that the Bank will enter into 
a specific lending arrangement and does not expect to 
sell the resulting loan shortly after origination. All other 
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fees, which are integral part of effective interest rate 
calculation are presented in interest income.

All other fees, commissions and other income and 
expense items are generally recorded on an accrual 
basis by reference to completion of the specific 
transaction assessed on the basis of the actual 
service provided as a proportion of the total services 
to be provided. Other fee and commission income 
and expenses consist of fees and commissions from 
(for): credit cards, account service fees, international 
payments, domestic payments, Central Bank fees, 
SMS banking, guarantees and letters of credit and other 
fees and commissions. Other fee and commissions 
are recognised as the related services are performed. 
Other fees and commission expense relate mainly to 
transaction and service fees, which are expensed as 
the services are received.

(d) Operating leases

Leases in which the Bank is a lessee and a significant 
portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are 
retained by the lessor are classified as operating leases. 
Payments made under operating leases are recognised 
in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of 
the lease. Lease incentives received are recognised as 
an integral part of the total lease expense, over the term 
of the lease.

(e) Foreign currency transactions

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into 
the respective functional currency at the spot exchange 
rates at the date of the transactions.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 
currencies at the reporting date are translated into the 
functional currency at the spot exchange rate at that 
date. The foreign currency gain or loss on monetary 
items is the difference between the amortised cost in 
the functional currency at the beginning of the year, 
adjusted for effective interest and payments during 
the year, and the amortised cost in the foreign currency 
translated at the spot exchange rate at the end of the 
year.

Foreign currency differences arising on translation are 
generally recognised in profit or loss.

(f) Income tax

Income taxes have been provided for in the financial 
statements in accordance with legislation enacted 
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting 
period.

The income tax charge comprises current tax and 
deferred income tax and is recognised in profit or 
loss for the year, except if it is recognised in other 
comprehensive income or directly in equity because it 
relates to transactions that are also recognised, in the 
same or a different period, in other comprehensive 
income or directly in equity.

(i) Current tax

Current tax is the amount expected to be paid to, or 
recovered from, the taxation authorities in respect 
of taxable profits or losses for the current and prior 
periods. Taxable profits or losses are based on 
estimates if the financial statements are authorised 
prior to filing relevant tax returns. Taxes other than on 
income are recorded within administrative and other 
operating expenses.

(ii) Deferred tax

Deferred income tax is provided using the balance 
sheet liability method for tax loss carry forwards and 
temporary differences arising between the tax bases 
of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for 
financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax balances are measured at tax rates 
enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the 
reporting period, which are expected to apply to the 
period when the temporary differences will reverse or 
the tax loss carry forwards will be utilised.

Deferred tax assets for deductible temporary 
differences and tax loss carry forwards are recorded 
only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable 
profit will be available against which the deductions 
can be utilised.

(iii) Uncertain tax positions

The Bank’s uncertain tax positions are reassessed 
by management at the end of each reporting period. 
Liabilities are recorded for income tax positions that 
are determined by management as more likely than 
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not to result in additional taxes being levied if the 
positions were to be challenged by the tax authorities. 
The assessment is based on the interpretation of tax 
laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted 
by the end of the reporting period, and any known 
court or other rulings on such issues. Liabilities for 
penalties, interest and taxes other than on income are 
recognised based on management’s best estimate of 
the expenditure required to settle the obligations at the 
end of the reporting period.

(g) Financial instruments

(i) Recognition and initial measurement

The Bank initially recognizes loans and advances, 
deposits and subordinated liabilities on the date 
on which they are originated. All other financial 
instruments (including regular-way purchases and 
sales of financial assets) are recognized on the trade 
date, which is the date on which the Bank becomes a 
party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.
A financial asset or financial liability is measured 
initially at fair value plus, for an item not at FVTPL, 
transaction costs that are directly attributable to its 
acquisition or issue.

(ii) Classification

Financial assets – Applicable from January 1, 2018

On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as 
measured at: amortised cost, FVOCI or FVTPL.

A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it 
meets both of the following conditions and is
not designated as at FVTPL:

• the asset is held within a business model whose 
objective is to hold assets to collect contractual cash 
flows; and
• the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise 
on specified dates to cash flows that are SPPI.

A financial asset is measured at FVOCI only if it meets 
both of the following conditions and is not designated 
as at FVTPL:

• the asset is held within a business model whose 
objective is achieved by both collecting contractual 
cash flows and selling financial assets; and
• the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise 

on specified dates to cash flows that are SPPI.
All other financial assets are classified as measured at 
FVTPL.

In addition, on initial recognition, the Bank may 
irrevocably designate a financial asset that otherwise 
meets the requirements to be measured at amortised 
cost or at FVOCI as at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or 
significantly reduces an accounting mismatch that 
would otherwise arise

Business model assessment

The Bank makes an assessment of the objective of a 
business model in which an asset is held at a portfolio 
level because this best reflects the way the business is 
managed and information is provided to management. 
The information considered includes:
• the stated policies and objectives for the portfolio 
and the operation of those policies in practice. In 
particular, whether management’s strategy focuses 
on earning contractual interest revenue, maintaining a 
particular interest rate profile, matching the duration of 
the financial assets to the duration of the liabilities that 
are funding those assets or realizing cash flows through 
the sale of the assets;
• how the performance of the portfolio is evaluated and 
reported to the Bank’s management;
• the risks that affect the performance of the business 
model (and the financial assets held within that 
business model) and its strategy for how those risks 
are managed;
• the frequency, volume and timing of sales in prior 
periods, the reasons for such sales and its expectations 
about future sales activity. However, information about 
sales activity is not considered in isolation, but as part 
of an overall assessment of how the Bank’s stated 
objective for managing the financial assets is achieved 
and how cash flows are realized.

Financial assets that are held for trading or managed 
and whose performance is evaluated on a fair value 
basis are measured at FVTPL because they are neither 
held to collect contractual cash flows nor held both 
to collect contractual cash flows and to sell financial 
assets.

Assessment of whether contractual cash flows are 
solely payments of principal and interest.

For the purposes of this assessment, ‘principal’ is 
defined as the fair value of the financial asset on initial 
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recognition. ‘Interest’ is defined as consideration for the 
time value of money and for the credit risk associated 
with the principal amount outstanding during a 
particular period of time and for other basic lending 
risks and costs (e.g. liquidity risk and administrative 
costs), as well as profit margin.

In assessing whether the contractual cash flows are 
SPPI, the Bank considers the contractual terms of 
the instrument. This includes assessing whether the 
financial asset contains a contractual term that could 
change the timing or amount of contractual cash flows 
such that it would not meet this condition. In making the 
assessment, the Bank considers:

• contingent events that would change the amount and 
timing of cash flows;
• leverage features;
• prepayment and extension terms;
• terms that limit the Bank’s claim to cash flows from 
specified assets (e.g. non-recourse loans); and
• features that modify consideration of the time value of 
money (e.g. periodical reset of interest rates).

The Bank holds a portfolio of long-term fixed-rate 
loans for which the Bank has the option to propose to 
revise the interest rate at periodic reset dates. These 
reset rights are limited to the market rate at the time of 
revision. The borrowers have an option to either accept 
the revised rate or redeem the loan at par without 
penalty. The Bank has determined that the contractual 
cash flows of these loans are SPPI because the option 
varies the interest rate in a way that is consideration for 
the time value of money, credit risk, other basic lending 
risks and costs associated with the principal amount 
outstanding.

Non-recourse loans

In some cases, loans made by the Bank that are secured 
by collateral of the borrower limit the Bank’s claim to 
cash flows of the underlying collateral (non-recourse 
loans). The Bank applies judgment in assessing 
whether the non-recourse loans meet the SPPI criterion. 
The Bank typically considers the following information 
when making this judgement:

• whether the contractual arrangement specifically 
defines the amounts and dates of the cash payments 
of the loan;
• the fair value of the collateral relative to the amount of 
the secured financial asset;

• the ability and willingness of the borrower to make 
contractual payments, notwithstanding a decline in the 
value of collateral;
• whether the borrower is an individual or a substantive 
operating entity or is a special-purpose entity;
• the Bank’s risk of loss on the asset relative to a full-
recourse loan;
• the extent to which the collateral represents all or a 
substantial portion of the borrower’s assets; and
• whether the Bank will benefit from any upside from 
the underlying assets.

Contractually linked instruments

The Bank has some investments in securitizations 
that are considered contractually linked instruments. 
Contractually linked instruments each have a specified 
subordination ranking that determines the order in 
which any cash flows generated by the pool of underlying 
investments are allocated to the instruments. Such an 
instrument meets the SPPI criterion only if all of the 
following conditions are met:

• the contractual terms of the instrument itself give rise 
to cash flows that are SPPI without looking through to 
the underlying pool of financial instruments;
• the underlying pool of financial instruments (i) 
contains one or more instruments that give rise to 
cash flows that are SPPI; and (ii) may also contain 
instruments, such as derivatives, that reduce the cash 
flow variability of the instruments under (i) and the 
combined cash flows (of the instruments under (i) and 
(ii)) give rise to cash flows that are SPPI; or align the 
cash flows of the contractually linked instruments with 
the cash flows of the pool of underlying instruments 
under (i) arising as a result of differences in whether 
interest rates are fixed or floating or the currency or 
timing of cash flows; and
• the exposure to credit risk inherent in the contractually 
linked instruments is equal to or less than the exposure 
to credit risk of the underlying pool of financial 
instruments.

Reclassifications

Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their 
initial recognition, except in the period after the Bank 
changes its business model for managing financial 
assets.
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(iii) Derecognition

Financial assets

The Bank derecognizes a financial asset when the 
contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial 
asset expire (see also (iv)), or it transfers the rights to 
receive the contractual cash flows in a transaction 
in which substantially all of the risks and rewards 
of ownership of the financial asset are transferred 
or in which the Bank neither transfers nor retains 
substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership 
and it does not retain control of the financial asset.

On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference 
between the carrying amount of the asset (or the 
carrying amount allocated to the portion of the asset 
derecognised) and the sum of (i) the consideration 
received (including any new asset obtained less any 
new liability assumed) and (ii) any cumulative gain or 
loss that had been recognised in OCI is recognised in 
profit or loss.

From 1 January 2018 any cumulative gain/loss 
recognised in OCI in respect of equity investment 
securities designated as at FVOCI is not recognised in 
profit or loss on derecognition of such securities, Any 
interest in transferred financial assets that qualify for 
derecognition that is created or retained by the Bank is 
recognised as a separate asset or liability.

The Bank enters into transactions whereby it transfers 
assets recognised on its statement of financial 
position, but retains either all or substantially all of 
the risks and rewards of the transferred assets or a 
portion of them. In such cases, the transferred assets 
are not derecognised. Examples of such transactions 
are securities lending and sale-and-repurchase 
transactions.

When assets are sold to a third party with a concurrent 
total rate of return swap on the transferred assets, 
the transaction is accounted for as a secured 
financing transaction similar to sale-and-repurchase 
transactions, because the Bank retains all or 
substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership 
of such assets.

In transactions in which the Bank neither retains nor 
transfers substantially all of the risks and rewards of 
ownership of a financial asset and it retains control over 
the asset, the Bank continues to recognise the asset to 

the extent of its continuing involvement, determined by 
the extent to which it is exposed to changes in the value 
of the transferred asset.

In certain transactions, the Bank retains the obligation 
to service the transferred financial asset for a fee. 
The transferred asset is derecognised if it meets the 
derecognition criteria. An asset or liability is recognised 
for the servicing contract if the servicing fee is more 
than adequate (asset) or is less than adequate (liability) 
for performing the servicing.

Financial liabilities

The Bank derecognises a financial liability when its 
contractual obligations are discharged or cancelled, or 
expire.

(iv) Modifications of financial assets and financial 
liabilities

Financial assets

If the terms of a financial asset are modified, then the 
Bank evaluates whether the cash flows of the modified 
asset are substantially different.

If the cash flows are substantially different, then the 
contractual rights to cash flows from the original 
financial asset are deemed to have expired. In this 
case, the original financial asset is derecognised (see 
(iii)) and a new financial asset is recognised at fair value 
plus any eligible transaction costs. Any fees received as 
part of the modification are accounted for as follows:

• fees that are considered in determining the fair value 
of the new asset and fees that represent reimbursement 
of eligible transaction costs are included in the initial 
measurement of the asset; and
• other fees are included in profit or loss as part of the 
gain or loss on derecognition.

If cash flows are modified when the borrower is 
in financial difficulties, then the objective of the 
modification is usually to maximise recovery of the 
original contractual terms rather than to originate a 
new asset with substantially different terms. If the 
Bank plans to modify a financial asset in a way that 
would result in forgiveness of cash flows, then it first 
considers whether a portion of the asset should be 
written off before the modification takes place (see 
below for write-off policy). This approach impacts the 
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result of the quantitative evaluation and means that the 
derecognition criteria are not usually met in such cases.

If the modification of a financial asset measured 
at amortised cost or FVOCI does not result in 
derecognition of the financial asset, then the Bank first 
recalculates the gross carrying amount of the financial 
asset using the original effective interest rate of the 
asset and recognises the resulting adjustment as a 
modification gain or loss in profit or loss. For floating-
rate financial assets, the original effective interest 
rate used to calculate the modification gain or loss is 
adjusted to reflect current market terms at the time of 
the modification. Any costs or fees incurred and fees 
received as part of the modification adjust the gross 
carrying amount of the modified financial asset and 
are amortised over the remaining term of the modified 
financial asset.

If such a modification is carried out because of financial 
difficulties of the borrower (see (vii)), then the gain or 
loss is presented together with impairment losses. 
In other cases, it is presented as interest income 
calculated using the effective interest rate method.

Financial liabilities

The Bank derecognises a financial liability when its 
terms are modified and the cash flows of the modified 
liability are substantially different. In this case, a new 
financial liability based on the modified terms is 
recognised at fair value. The difference between the 
carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised 
and consideration paid is recognised in profit or loss. 
Consideration paid includes non-financial assets 
transferred, if any, and the assumption of liabilities, 
including the new modified financial liability.

If the modification of a financial liability is not accounted 
for as derecognition, then the amortised cost of the 
liability is recalculated by discounting the modified 
cash flows at the original effective interest rate and the 
resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss. For 
floating-rate financial liabilities, the original effective 
interest rate used to calculate the modification gain or 
loss is adjusted to reflect current market terms at the 
time of the modification. Any costs and fees incurred 
are recognised as an adjustment to the carrying amount 
of the liability and amortised over the remaining term 
of the modified financial liability by re-computing the 
effective interest rate on the instrument.

(v) Offsetting

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and 
the net amount presented in the statement of financial 
position when, and only when, the Bank currently has 
a legally enforceable right to set off the amounts and it 
intends either to settle them on a net basis or to realise 
the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Income and expenses are presented on a net basis 
only when permitted under IFRS, or for gains and 
losses arising from a group of similar transactions such 
as in the Bank’s trading activity.

(vi) Fair value measurement

‘Fair value’ is the price that would be received to sell 
an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 
transaction between market participants at the 
measurement date in the principal or, in its absence, 
the most advantageous market to which the Bank has 
access at that date. The fair value of a liability reflects 
its non-performance risk.

When one is available, the Bank measures the fair 
value of an instrument using the quoted price in an 
active market for that instrument. A market is regarded 
as ‘active’ if transactions for the asset or liability take 
place with sufficient frequency and volume to provide 
pricing information on an ongoing basis.

If there is no quoted price in an active market, then the 
Bank uses valuation techniques that maximise the use 
of relevant observable inputs and minimise the use of 
unobservable inputs. The chosen valuation technique 
incorporates all of the factors that market participants 
would take into account in pricing a transaction.

The best evidence of the fair value of a financial 
instrument on initial recognition is normally the 
transaction price – i.e. the fair value of the consideration 
given or received. If the Bank determines that the fair 
value on initial recognition differs from the transaction 
price and the fair value is evidenced neither by a 
quoted price in an active market for an identical asset 
or liability nor based on a valuation technique for which 
any unobservable inputs are judged to be insignificant 
in relation to the measurement, then the financial 
instrument is initially measured at fair value, adjusted 
to defer the difference between the fair value on initial 
recognition and the transaction price. Subsequently, 
that difference is recognised in profit or loss on an 
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appropriate basis over the life of the instrument but 
no later than when the valuation is wholly supported 
by observable market data or the transaction is closed 
out.

If an asset or a liability measured at fair value has a bid 
price and an ask price, then the Bank measures assets 
and long positions at a bid price and liabilities and 
short positions at an ask price.

Portfolios of financial assets and financial liabilities 
that are exposed to market risk and credit risk that are 
managed by the Bank on the basis of the net exposure 
to either market or credit risk are measured on the 
basis of a price that would be received to sell a net long 
position (or paid to transfer a net short position) for the 
particular risk exposure. Portfolio-level adjustments 
– e.g. bid-ask adjustment or credit risk adjustments 
that reflect the measurement on the basis of the net 
exposure – are allocated to the individual assets and 
liabilities on the basis of the relative risk adjustment of 
each of the individual instruments in the portfolio.

The fair value of a financial liability with a demand 
feature (e.g. a demand deposit) is not less than the 
amount payable on demand, discounted from the first 
date on which the amount could be required to be paid.

The Bank recognises transfers between levels of the 
fair value hierarchy as of the end of the reporting period 
during which the change has occurred.

(vii) Impairment

The Bank recognises loss allowances for ECL on the 
following financial instruments that are not measured 
at FVTPL:

• financial assets that are debt instruments;
• lease receivables;
• financial guarantee contracts issued; and
• loan commitments issued.

No impairment loss is recognised on equity 
investments.

The Bank measures loss allowances at an amount 
equal to lifetime ECL, except for the following, for which 
they are measured as 12-month ECL:

• debt investment securities that are determined to 
have low credit risk at the reporting date; and

• other financial instruments (other than lease 
receivables) on which credit risk has not increased 
significantly since their initial recognition

Loss allowances for lease receivables are always 
measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECL.

The Bank considers a debt investment security to have 
low credit risk when its credit risk rating is equivalent 
to the globally understood definition of ‘investment 
grade’. The Bank does not apply the low credit risk 
exemption to any other financial instruments.

12-month ECL are the portion of ECL that result from 
default events on a financial instrument that are 
possible within the 12 months after the reporting 
date. Financial instruments for which a 12-month 
ECL is recognised are referred to as ‘Stage 1 financial 
instruments’.

Life-time ECL are the ECL that result from all possible 
default events over the expected life of the financial 
instrument. Financial instruments for which a lifetime 
ECL is recognised but which are not credit-impaired are 
referred to as ‘Stage 2 financial instruments’.

Measurement of ECL

ECL are a probability-weighted estimate of credit 
losses. They are measured as follows:

• financial assets that are not credit-impaired at 
the reporting date: as the present value of all cash 
shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the cash flows 
due to the entity in accordance with the contract and 
the cash flows that the Bank expects to receive);
• financial assets that are credit-impaired at the 
reporting date: as the difference between the gross 
carrying amount and the present value of estimated 
future cash flows;
• undrawn loan commitments: as the present value of 
the difference between the contractual cash flows that 
are due to the Bank if the commitment is drawn down 
and the cash flows that the Bank expects to receive; 
and
• financial guarantee contracts: the expected payments 
to reimburse the holder less any amounts that the Bank 
expects to recover.
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Restructured financial assets

If the terms of a financial asset are renegotiated or 
modified or an existing financial asset is replaced with 
a new one due to financial difficulties of the borrower, 
then an assessment is made of whether the financial 
asset should be derecognised and ECL are measured 
as follows.

• If the expected restructuring will not result in 
derecognition of the existing asset, then the expected 
cash flows arising from the modified financial asset 
are included in calculating the cash shortfalls from the 
existing asset
• If the expected restructuring will result in 
derecognition of the existing asset, then the expected 
fair value of the new asset is treated as the final cash 
flow from the existing financial asset at the time of its 
derecognition. This amount is included in calculating 
the cash shortfalls from the existing financial asset that 
are discounted from the expected date of derecognition 
to the reporting date using the original effective interest 
rate of the existing financial asset.

Credit impaired financial assets

At each reporting date, the Bank assesses whether 
financial assets carried at amortised cost and debt 
financial assets carried at FVOCI, and finance lease 
receivables are credit-impaired (referred to as ‘Stage 3 
financial assets’). A financial asset is ‘credit-impaired’ 
when one or more events that have a detrimental impact 
on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset 
have occurred.

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired 
includes the following observable data:

• significant financial difficulty of the borrower or issuer;
• a breach of contract such as a default or past due 
event;
• the restructuring of a loan or advance by the Bank on 
terms that the Bank would not consider otherwise;
• it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter 
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or
• the disappearance of an active market for a security 
because of financial difficulties.

A loan that has been renegotiated due to a deterioration 
in the borrower’s condition is usually considered to be 
credit-impaired unless there is evidence that the risk 
of not receiving contractual cash flows has reduced 

significantly and there are no other indicators of 
impairment. In addition, a retail loan that is overdue 
for 90 days or more is considered credit-impaired even 
when the regulatory definition of default is different.

In making an assessment of whether an investment in 
sovereign debt is credit-impaired, the Bank considers 
the following factors.

• The market’s assessment of creditworthiness as 
reflected in the bond yields.
• The rating agencies’ assessments of creditworthiness.
• The country’s ability to access the capital markets for 
new debt issuance.
• The probability of debt being restructured, resulting 
in holders suffering losses through voluntary or 
mandatory debt forgiveness.
• The international support mechanisms in place to 
provide the necessary support as ‘lender of last resort’ 
to that country, as well as the intention, reflected in 
public statements, of governments and agencies to 
use those mechanisms. This includes an assessment of 
the depth of those mechanisms and, irrespective of the 
political intent, whether there is the capacity to fulfil the 
required criteria.

Presentation of allowance for ECL in the statement of 
financial position

Loss allowances for ECL are presented in the statement 
of financial position as follows:

• financial assets measured at amortised cost: as 
a deduction from the gross carrying amount of the 
assets;
• loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts: 
generally, as a provision;
• where a financial instrument includes both a drawn 
and an undrawn component, and the Bank cannot 
identify the ECL on the loan commitment component 
separately from those on the drawn component: the 
Bank presents a combined loss allowance for both 
components. The combined amount is presented as a 
deduction from the gross carrying amount of the drawn 
component. Any excess of the loss allowance over the 
gross amount of the drawn component is presented as 
a provision; and
• debt instruments measured at FVOCI: no loss 
allowance is recognised in the statement of financial 
position because the carrying amount of these assets 
is their fair value. However, the loss allowance is 
disclosed and is recognised in the fair value reserve.
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Write-off

Loans and debt securities are written off (either partially 
or in full) when there is no reasonable expectation of 
recovering a financial asset in its entirety or a portion 
thereof. This is generally the case when the Bank 
determines that the borrower does not have assets or 
sources of income that could generate sufficient cash 
flows to repay the amounts subject to the write-off. This 
assessment is carried out at the individual asset level.
Recoveries of amounts previously written off are 
included in ‘impairment losses on financial instruments’ 
in the statement of profit or loss and OCI.

Financial assets that are written off could still be subject 
to enforcement activities in order to comply with the 
Bank’s procedures for recovery of amounts due.

Non-integral financial guarantee contracts

The Bank assesses whether a financial guarantee 
contract held is an integral element of a financial asset 
that is accounted for as a component of that instrument 
or is a contract that is accounted for separately. The 
factors that the Bank considers when making this 
assessment include whether:

• the guarantee is implicitly part of the contractual 
terms of the debt instrument;
• the guarantee is required by laws and regulations that 
govern the contract of the debt instrument;
• the guarantee is entered into at the same time as and 
in contemplation of the debt instrument; and
• the guarantee is given by the parent of the borrower or 
another company within the borrower’s group.

If the Bank determines that the guarantee is an integral 
element of the financial asset, then any premium 
payable in connection with the initial recognition of 
the financial asset is treated as a transaction cost 
of acquiring it. The Bank considers the effect of the 
protection when measuring the fair value of the debt 
instrument and when measuring ECL.

If the Bank determines that the guarantee is not 
an integral element of the debt instrument, then it 
recognises an asset representing any prepayment of 
guarantee premium and a right to compensation for 
credit losses. A prepaid premium asset is recognised 
only if the guaranteed exposure neither is credit-
impaired nor has undergone a significant increase 
in credit risk when the guarantee is acquired. These 

assets are recognised in ‘other assets’. The Bank 
presents gains or losses on a compensation right in 
profit or loss in the line item ‘impairment losses on 
financial instruments’.

(h) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include notes and coins 
on hand, unrestricted balances held with central 
banks and highly liquid financial assets with original 
maturities of three months or less from the acquisition 
date that are subject to an insignificant risk of changes 
in their fair value, and are used by the Bank in the 
management of its short-term commitments. Cash and 
cash equivalents are carried at amortized cost.

(i) Loans and advances

‘Loans and advances’ captions in the statement of 
financial position include:

• loans and advances measured at amortised cost; 
they are initially measured at fair value plus incremental 
direct transaction costs, and subsequently at their 
amortised cost using the effective interest method;
• loans and advances mandatorily measured at FVTPL 
or designated as at FVTPL (see J(ii)); these are measured 
at fair value with changes recognised immediately in 
profit or loss; and
• finance lease receivables

When the Bank purchases a financial asset and 
simultaneously enters into an agreement to resell the 
asset (or a substantially similar asset) at a fixed price 
on a future date (reverse repo or stock borrowing), the 
arrangement is accounted for as a loan or advance, and 
the underlying asset is not recognised in the Bank’s 
financial statements.

(j) Investment securities

The ‘investment securities’ caption in the statement of 
financial position includes:

• debt securities measured at FVOCI
For debt securities measured at FVOCI, gains and losses 
are recognised in OCI, except for the following, which 
are recognised in profit or loss in the same manner as 
for financial assets measured at amortised cost:
• interest revenue using the effective interest method;
• ECL and reversals; and
• foreign exchange gains and losses.
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When debt security measured at FVOCI is derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in OCI is 
reclassified from equity to profit or loss.

(k) Property and equipment

Property and equipment are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment, 
if any. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items of property and 
equipment.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or are recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, 
only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Bank and the cost of 
the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to other operating expenses during 
the financial period in which they are incurred.

The carrying values of property and equipment are reviewed for impairment when events change or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable. If any such indications exist and where the 
carrying values exceed the estimated recoverable amount, the assets or cash-generating units are written down to 
their recoverable amount.

The recoverable amount of property and equipment is the greater of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. 
In assessing the value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax 
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the assets.

For an asset that does not generate largely independent cash flows, the recoverable amount is determined for the 
cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss.

Land and assets under construction are not depreciated. Depreciation of assets is charged on a straight-line basis 
at prescribed rates to allocate the cost of property and equipment over their estimated useful lives. The annual 
depreciation rates are determined by the estimated useful lives of certain assets as presented below

Property and equipment with useful lives of more than one year which fall under the materiality threshold of EUR 50 
(2017: EUR 50) and, are also not material in aggregate, are expensed in profit or loss.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with carrying amount. These are included in 
other income or other operating expenses (as appropriate) in profit or loss.

(l) Intangible assets

Intangible assets are recognised if it is probable that the future economic benefits that are attributable to the asset 
will flow to the Bank and the cost of the asset can be measured reliably. Intangible assets are measured initially 

Description

Buildings
Leasehold improvements
Electronic equipment
Furniture and fixtures
Motor vehicle
Other fixed assets

Useful life 2018

40 years
Based on lease term

2-5 years
2-10 years
3-5years
2-7 years

Description

20 years
Based on lease term

2-5 years
2-10 years

3-5years
2-7 years
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at cost. The carrying values of intangible assets are 
reviewed for impairment when events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying value may 
not be recoverable. Intangible assets are entirely 
comprised of computer software which is amortised 
using the straight-line method over their estimated 
useful life of five years.

(m) Repossessed collateral

Repossessed collateral represents properties acquired 
by the Bank in settlement of overdue loans. The assets 
are initially recognised at the lower value between fair 
value less costs to sell and the carrying amount of the 
loan at the date of exchange. Movable property is not 
recognised as an asset when repossessed. 

The Bank subsequently measures repossessed 
collateral at the lower between amount initially 
recognised and the fair value of the properties less 
costs to sell. For the assessment of the fair value, the 
management uses appraisal performed by external 
expert valuators, licensed by Central Bank of Kosovo. 
The Bank applies haircuts determined by the Bank that 
reflect limitations of the market, consideration of time 
value of money and legal issues with the properties.

Management of the Bank has assessed 20% as the 
initial haircut to fair value that best represents the above 
limitations. Additional haircuts are applied to reflect 
legal issues and additional difficulties to realise the 
sale. Repossessed assets are written off in case they 
are not sold by the Bank 5 years from repossession. Any 
loss arising from the above remeasurement is recorded 
in profit or loss. Gains or losses from the sale of these 
assets are recognized in the profit or loss.

(n) Due from other banks

Amounts due from other banks are recorded when 
the Bank advances money to counterparty banks with 
no intention of trading the resulting unquoted non-
derivative receivable due on fixed or determinable 
dates. Amounts due from other banks are carried at 
amortised cost.

(o) Deposits and subordinated liabilities

Deposits and subordinated liabilities are the Bank’s 
main sources of debt funding.

When the Bank sells a financial asset and simultaneously 
enters into an agreement to repurchase the asset (or a 
similar asset) at a fixed price on a future date (sale and 
repurchase agreement), the arrangement is accounted 
for as a deposit, and the underlying asset continues to 
be recognised in the Bank’s financial statements.

Deposits and subordinated liabilities are initially 
measured at fair value minus incremental direct 
transaction costs, and subsequently measured at their 
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

(p) Provisions

A provision is recognised if, as a result of a past event, 
the Bank has a present legal or constructive obligation 
that can be estimated reliably, and it is probable that 
an outflow of economic benefits will be required to 
settle the obligation. Provisions are determined by 
discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-
tax rate that reflects current market assessments of 
the time value of money and the risks specific to the 
liability. The unwinding of the discount is recognised as 
finance cost.

(q) Employee benefits

The Bank pays only contributions to the publicly 
administered pension plan on a mandatory basis. The 
Bank has no further payment obligations once the 
contributions have been paid. The contributions are 
recognised as employee benefit expense when they 
are due. The Bank calculated and provided provision for 
staff leave untaken by the end of the reporting period.

(r) Financial guarantees and loan commitments

‘Financial guarantees’ are contracts that require the 
Bank to make specified payments to reimburse the 
holder for a loss that it incurs because a specified debtor 
fails to make payment when it is due in accordance with 
the terms of a debt instrument. ‘Loan commitments’ are 
firm commitments to provide credit under pre-specified 
terms and conditions.

Financial guarantees issued or commitments to 
provide a loan at a below-market interest rate are 
initially measured at fair value. Subsequently, they are 
measured as follows:

• from 1 January 2018: at the higher of the loss 
allowance determined in accordance with IFRS 9 and 
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the amount initially recognised less, when appropriate, 
the cumulative amount of income recognised in 
accordance with the principles of IFRS 15; and
• before 1 January 2018: at the higher of the amount 
representing the initial fair value amortised over the life 
of the guarantee or the commitment and the present 
value of any expected payment to settle the liability 
when a payment under the contract has become 
probable.

The Bank has issued no loan commitments that are 
measured at FVTPL.

For other loan commitments:

• from 1 January 2018: the Bank recognises a loss 
allowance in accordance with IFRS 9
• before 1 January 2018: the Bank recognised a 
provision in accordance with IAS 37 if the contract was 
considered to be onerous.

Liabilities arising from financial guarantees and loan 
commitments are included within provisions.

(s) Share capital

(i) Share issue costs

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of 
new shares are shown in equity as a deduction, net of 
tax, from the proceeds.

(ii) Share premium

Share premium represents the excess of contribution 
received over the nominal value of shares issued.

(iii) Dividends on ordinary shares

Dividends on ordinary shares are recognised in equity 
in the period in which they are approved by the Bank’s 
shareholders. Dividends for the year that are declared 
after the reporting date are disclosed as events after 
the end of the reporting period.

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED 
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING 
STANDARDS

3.1. Standards and interpretations effective in the 
current period

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments

IFRS 9 sets out requirements for recognising and 
measuring financial assets, financial liabilities and 
some contracts to buy or sell non-financial items. 
This standard replaces IAS 39 Financial Instruments: 
Recognition and Measurement. The requirements of 
IFRS 9 represent a significant change from IAS 39. 
The new standard brings fundamental changes to the 
accounting for financial assets and to certain aspects 
of the accounting for financial liabilities.

As a result of the IFRS 9, the Bank has adopted 
consequential amendments to IAS 1 Presentation 
of Financial Statements, which require separate 
presentation in the statement of profit or loss and OCI of 
interest revenue calculated using the effective interest 
method. Previously, the Bank disclosed this amount in 
the notes to the financial statements.

Additionally, the Bank has adopted consequential 
amendments to IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: 
Disclosures that are applied to disclosures about 
2018, but have not been applied to the comparative 
information.

The key changes to the Bank’s accounting policies 
resulting from its adoption of IFRS 9 are summarised 
below. The full impact of adopting the standard is set 
out in the tables below.

Classification of financial assets and financial 
liabilities

IFRS 9 contains three principal classification categories 
for financial assets: measured at amortised cost, fair 
value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) 
and fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL). IFRS 
9 classification is generally based on the business 
model in which a financial asset is managed and its 
contractual cash flows. The standard eliminates the 
previous IAS 39 categories of held-to-maturity, loans 
and receivables and available-for-sale. Under IFRS 9, 
derivatives embedded in contracts where the host is a 
financial asset in the scope of the standard are never 
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bifurcated. Instead, the whole hybrid instrument is 
assessed for classification.

IFRS 9 largely retains the existing requirements in IAS 
39 for the classification of financial liabilities. However, 
although under IAS 39 all fair value changes of liabilities 
designated under the fair value option were recognised 
in profit or loss, under IFRS 9 fair value changes are 
generally presented as follows:

• the amount of change in the fair value that is 
attributable to changes in the credit risk of the liability 
is presented in OCI; and
• the remaining amount of change in the fair value is 
presented in profit or loss.

Impairment of financial assets

IFRS 9 replaces the ‘incurred loss’ model in IAS 39 with 
an ‘expected credit loss’ model. The new impairment 
model also applies to certain loan commitments 
and financial guarantee contracts but not to equity 
investments.

Under IFRS 9, credit losses are recognised earlier than 
under IAS 39.

Transition

Changes in accounting policies resulting from the 
adoption of IFRS 9 have been applied retrospectively, 
except as described below.

• Comparative periods generally have not been 
restated. Differences in the carrying amounts of 
financial assets and financial liabilities resulting from 
the adoption of IFRS 9 are recognised in retained 
earnings and reserves as at 1 January 2018. Accordingly, 
the information presented for 2017 does not reflect the 
requirements of IFRS 9 and therefore is not comparable 
to the information presented for 2018 under IFRS 9.
The Bank used the exemption not to restate comparative 
periods but considering that the amendments made by 
IFRS 9 to IAS 1 introduced the requirement to present 
‘interest income calculated using the effective interest 
rate’ as a separate line item in the statement of profit 
or loss and OCI, the Bank has reclassified comparative 
interest income on finance leases to ‘other interest 
income’ and changed the description of the line item 
from ‘interest income’ reported in 2017 to ‘interest 
income calculated using the effective interest method’.

• The following assessments have been made on the 
basis of the facts and circumstances that existed at the 
date of initial application.

✓ The determination of the business model within which 
a financial asset is held.

✓ The designation and revocation of previous 
designations of certain financial assets and financial 
liabilities as measured at FVTPL.
 
• If a debt security had low credit risk at the date of initial 
application of IFRS 9, then the Bank has assumed that 
credit risk on the asset had not increased significantly 
since its initial recognition.
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3. Adoption of new and revised International Financial Reporting Standards (continued)

3.1. Standards and interpretations effective in the current period (continued)

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (continued)

Presentation of effects at transition to IFRS 9 as of 1 January 2018
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The following new amendments to the existing 
standards issued by the International Accounting 
Standards Board (IASB) are effective for the current 
reporting period:

• IFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with Customers” 
and further amendments (effective for annual periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2018)
• Amendments to IFRS 2 “Share-based Payment” 
- Classification and Measurement of Share-based 
Payment Transactions (effective for annual periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2018),
• Amendments to IFRS 4 “Insurance Contracts” - 
Applying IFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” with IFRS 4 
“Insurance Contracts” (effective for annual periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2018 or when IFRS 9 
“Financial Instruments” is applied first time),
• Amendments to IAS 40 “Investment Property” - 
Transfers of Investment Property (effective for annual 
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018),
• Amendments to IFRS 1 and IAS 28 due to 
“Improvements to IFRSs (cycle 2014-2016)” resulting 
from the annual improvement project of IFRS (IFRS 1, 
IFRS 12 and IAS 28) primarily with a view to removing 
inconsistencies and clarifying wording (amendments to 
IFRS 1 and IAS 28 are to be applied for annual periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2018),
• IFRIC 22 “Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance 
Consideration” (effective for annual periods beginning 
on or after 1 January 2018).

The adoption of these amendments to the existing 
standards and interpretations has not led to any 
material changes in the Bank’s financial statements.

3.2 Standards and interpretations in issue not yet 
effective

The standards and interpretations that are issued, 
but not yet effective, up to the date of issuance of the 
Bank’s financial statements are disclosed below. The 
Bank intends to adopt these standards, if applicable, 
when they become effective.

• IFRS 17 “Insurance Contracts” (effective for annual 
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021),
• Amendments to IFRS 3 “Business Combinations” 
- Definition of a Business (effective for business 
combinations for which the acquisition date is on or 
after the beginning of the first annual reporting period 
beginning on or after 1 January 2020 and to asset 
acquisitions that occur on or after the beginning of that 

period)
• Amendments to IFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” - 
Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation 
(effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 
January 2019),
• Amendments to IFRS 10 “Consolidated Financial 
Statements” and IAS 28 “Investments in Associates 
and Joint Ventures” - Sale or Contribution of Assets 
between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture 
and further amendments (effective date deferred 
indefinitely until the research project on the equity 
method has been concluded),
• Amendments to IAS 1 “Presentation of Financial 
Statements” and IAS 8 “Accounting Policies, Changes 
in Accounting Estimates and Errors” - Definition of 
Material (effective for annual periods beginning on or 
after 1 January 2020),
• Amendments to IAS 19 “Employee Benefits” - Plan 
Amendment, Curtailment or Settlement (effective for 
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019),
• Amendments to IAS 28 “Investments in Associates 
and Joint Ventures” - Long-term Interests in Associates 
and Joint Ventures (effective for annual periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2019),
• Amendments to various standards due to 
“Improvements to IFRSs (cycle 2015-2017)” resulting 
from the annual improvement project of IFRS (IFRS 
3, IFRS 11, IAS 12 and IAS 23) primarily with a view 
to removing inconsistencies and clarifying wording 
(effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 
January 2019),
• Amendments to References to the Conceptual 
Framework in IFRS Standards (effective for annual 
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020),
• IFRIC 23 “Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments” 
(effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 
January 2019).

The Bank has elected not to adopt these standards, 
revisions and interpretations in advance of their 
effective dates. The Bank anticipates that the adoption 
of these standards, revisions and interpretations 
(except of IFRS 16 as disclosed below) will have no 
material impact on the financial statements of the Bank 
in the period of initial application.

• IFRS 16 Leases

IFRS 16 provides a comprehensive model for the 
identification of lease arrangements and their treatment 
in the financial statements for both lessors and lessees. 
IFRS 16 will supersede the current lease guidance 
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including IAS 17 Leases and the related Interpretations 
when it becomes effective for accounting periods 
beginning on or after January 2019. The date of initial 
application of IFRS 16 for the Bank will be 1 January 
2019. The method selected by the Bank was modified 
retrospective.

In contrast to lessee accounting, IFRS 16 substantially 
carries forward the lessor accounting requirements in 
IAS 17.

a) Impact of the new definition of the lease

The change in definition of a lease mainly relates to 
the concept of control. IFRS 16 distinguishes between 
leases and service contracts on the basis of whether the 
use of an identified asset is controlled by the customer. 
Control is considered to exist if the customer has:

• The right to obtain substantially all of the economic 
benefits from the use of an identified asset; and
• The right to direct the use of that asset.

The Bank will apply the definition of a lease and related 
guidance set out in IFRS 16 to all lease contracts entered 
into or modified on or after 1 January 2019 (whether it is 
a lessor or a lessee in the lease contract). In preparation 
for the first‑time application of IFRS 16, the Bank has 
carried out an implementation project. The project 
has shown that the new definition in IFRS 16 will not 
change significantly the scope of contracts that meet 
the definition of a lease for the Bank.

b) Impact on Lessee Accounting

Operating leases

IFRS 16 will change how the Bank accounts for leases 
previously classified as operating leases under IAS 17, 
which were off‑balance sheet.

On initial application of IFRS 16, for all leases, the Bank 
will:

• Recognise right‑of‑use assets and lease liabilities in 
the statement of financial position, initially measured 
at the present value of the future lease payments;
• Recognise depreciation of right‑of‑use assets and 
interest on lease liabilities in the statement of profit or 
loss
• Separate the total amount of cash paid into a principal 
portion (presented within financing activities) an 

interest (presented within operating activities) in the 
cash flow statement.

Under IFRS 16, right‑of‑use assets will be tested for 
impairment in accordance with IAS 36 Impairment of 
Assets. This will replace the previous requirement to 
recognise a provision for onerous lease contracts. For 
short‑term leases (lease term of 12 months or less) 
and leases of low‑value assets, the Bank will opt to 
recognise a lease expense on a straight‑line basis as 
permitted by IFRS 16.

Based on the information currently available, the 
Bank estimates that it will recognize additional lease 
liabilities and ROU assets of EUR 1,951,966 respectively 
as at 1 January 2019. Effect on depreciation, interest 
costs and changes in cash flow are not estimated to be 
material.

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS 
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION 
UNCERTAINTY

The Bank makes estimates and assumptions that 
affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities 
within the next financial year. Estimates and judgments 
are continually evaluated and based on historical 
experience and other factors, including expectations of 
future events that are believed to be reasonable under 
the circumstances.

(a) Assumptions and estimation uncertainties

Information about assumptions and estimation 
uncertainties that have a significant risk of resulting 
in a material adjustment in the subsequent years is 
set out below in relation to the impairment of financial 
instruments.

(i) Impairment charge for credit losses

The Bank reviews its loan portfolios to assess 
impairment on a monthly basis. In determining whether 
an impairment loss should be recorded in profit or loss, 
the Bank makes judgments as to whether there is any 
observable data indicating that there is a measurable 
decrease in the estimated future cash flows from a 
portfolio of loans before the decrease can be identified 
with an individual loan in that portfolio. This evidence 
may include observable data indicating that there 
has been an adverse change in the payment status 
of borrowers in a group, or national or local economic 
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conditions that correlate with defaults on assets in the 
Bank.

Management uses estimates based on historical loss 
experience for assets with credit risk characteristics 
and objective evidence of impairment similar to those 
in the portfolio when scheduling its future cash flows. 
The methodology and assumptions used for estimating 
both the amount and timing of future cash flows are 
reviewed regularly to reduce any differences between 
loss estimates and actual loss experience.

A 10% increase or decrease in actual loss experience 
compared to the loss estimates used would result 
in an increase or decrease in impairment on loans 
and advances by EUR 2,274 thousand (2017: EUR 
1,696 thousand), respectively. Impairment losses for 
individually significant loans are based on estimates 
of discounted future cash flows of the individual loans, 
taking into account repayments and realisation of 
any assets held as collateral against the loans. A 10% 
increase or decrease in the actual loss experience 
compared to the estimated future discounted cash 
flows from individually significant loans, which could 
arise from differences in amounts and timing of the 
cash flows, would result in an increase or decrease 
in impairment on loans and advances by EUR 359 
thousand (2017: EUR 933 thousand), respectively.

The Bank measures repossessed assets at the lower 
of cost (auction value) and net realizable value. The fair 
value measurement includes the use of independent 
appraiser’s valuation reports. The values are 
subsequently reviewed by the Bank’s Management for 
significant unobservable inputs and any required write 
down adjustments. Currently, due to the specifics of 
real estate market in Kosovo and legalization issues, 
the frequency of transactions is low. In management’s 
assessment there remains sufficient market activity to 
provide comparable prices for orderly transactions with 
similar properties when determining the fair value for 
the Bank’s repossessed collateral. Management has 
reviewed the appraisers’ assumptions underlying the 
methods used in the valuation reports and confirms 
that comparable information used, legal status of the 
properties and assumptions made are appropriately 
determined considering the market conditions at 
the end of the reporting period. Notwithstanding the 
above, management considers that the valuation of 
its repossessed collateral is currently subject to an 
increased degree of judgement and an increased 
likelihood that actual proceeds on a sale may differ 

from the carrying value. Haircuts management uses to 
reflect the costs to sell of the property cover uncertainty 
related to legal status, timing when repossessed 
collateral will be sold and other market limitations.

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Bank’s activities expose it to a variety of risks 
and those activities involve the analysis, evaluation, 
acceptance and management of some degree of risk or 
combination of risks. Taking risk is core to the financial 
business, and the operational risks are an inevitable 
consequence of being in business. The Bank’s aim is 
therefore to achieve an appropriate balance between 
risk and return and minimize potential adverse effects 
on the Bank’s financial performance.

The Bank’s risk management policies are designed 
to identify and analyse these risks, to set appropriate 
risk limits and controls, and to monitor the risks and 
adherence to limits by means of reliable and up-to-date 
information systems. The Bank regularly reviews its risk 
management policies and systems to reflect changes 
in markets, products and emerging best practice.

Risk management is carried out primarily by the Risk 
Monitoring Function and Credit Risk Department that 
work under the risk management policies approved 
by the Board of Directors. The Board provides written 
principles for overall risk management, as well as 
written policies covering specific areas, such as, 
credit risk, foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk and 
liquidity risk. In addition, internal audit is responsible 
for the independent review of risk management and the 
control environment.

(a) Credit risk

The Bank takes on exposure to credit risk, which is the 
risk that counterparty will cause a financial loss for 
the Bank by failing to discharge an obligation. Credit 
risk is pervasive to the Bank’s business; management 
therefore carefully manages its exposure to credit risk. 
Credit exposures arise principally in lending activities 
that lead to loans and advances, and investment 
activities that bring placements and debt securities 
into the Bank’s asset portfolio.

There is also credit risk in off-balance sheet financial 
instruments, such as letters of credit, guarantees and 
credit commitments. The credit risk management and 
control for loans and advances are centralized in the 
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credit risk management department, while the interbank risk for placements and debt securities are concentrated in the Treasury Unit and 
Risk Monitoring Function. All departments responsible for credit risk management and control, report to the Management Board and to the 
Board of Directors, regularly.

(i) Analysis of credit quality

The tables below set out information about the credit quality of financial assets and the allowance for impairment/loss held by the Bank 
against those assets.

The table represents a worst case scenario of credit risk exposure of the Bank at 31 December 2018 and 2017, without taking into account any 
collateral held or other credit enhancements attached. For financial assets, the exposures set out below represent the net carrying amounts 
as reported in the statement of financial position.

Cash and balances with central banks

Cash and current account with banks are neither past due nor impaired and are not collateralised. The credit quality of cash and balances with 
central banks is provided below. Kosovo Central Bank and Kosovo Government are not provided with a rating by recognised rating agencies.
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Due from banks

Interbank exposures are closely monitored on a daily basis by risk monitoring function and treasury unit. 
The Bank limits its deposits and other banking transactions to financially sound international banks. Before 
a business relationship is initiated with a given bank, management of the Bank and risk monitoring function 
carry out an analysis of the institution’s financial standing. The financial performance of the counterparties 
is continuously monitored. Moreover, all correspondent banks as well as bond issuers in which the Bank 
has investment exposures are continuously monitored for their ratings by international rating agencies like: 
Standard & Poor’s (S&P), Fitch and Moody’s. A function independent from the treasury unit, risk monitoring 
function, monitors that the exposure toward all banks does not exceed regulatory limits or internal limits set 
by the management of the Bank. Thus, risk monitoring function supports the treasury unit by providing daily 
reports that indicate the exposures and placements that can be made to all correspondent banks without 
violating present exposure limits.

In accordance with the new regulation on large exposures of the Central Bank of Republic of Kosovo, 
banks shall not have any aggregate credit risk exposure to related counterparties exceeding 15% of Tier I 
Regulatory Capital. In addition, to further reducing the counterparty risk, the ALCO approves internal limits 
on counterparty exposures slightly below the regulatory requirements, limits which have been continuously 
maintained by the Bank.

Loans and advances to banks are granted without collateral. The table below presents the Bank’s current 
accounts and time deposits with corresponding banks by credit ratings: 
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Loans and advances to customers
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Impairment and provisioning

Impairment provisions are recognised for financial reporting purposes only for losses that have been 
incurred at the reporting date based on objective evidence of impairment [see accounting policy 2 (g) (vii)].
The Bank’s policy requires the review of individual financial assets that are above materiality thresholds 
at least annually or more regularly when individual circumstances demand it. Impairment allowances on 
individually assessed exposures are determined by an evaluation of the incurred loss at the reporting date 
on a case-by-case basis, and are applied to all individually significant exposures. The assessment normally 
encompasses collateral held (including re-confirmation of its enforceability) and the anticipated receipts 
for that individual account. The collective assessment of the impairment of a group of financial assets 
is based on a quantitative analysis of historical default rates for loan portfolios with similar credit risk 
characteristics. The quantitative default rates calculated in this manner were subjected to a qualitative 
analysis (migration analysis).
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The bank uses expected loss impairment model 
which requires recognition of expected credit losses 
in a timely manner to ensure that the amount of 
expected credit losses recognised at each reporting 
date reflects the changes in the credit risk of the 
financial instruments. The model is forward-looking 
and it replaces the incurred loss model for recognition 
of credit losses, by recognising credit losses not 
necessarily triggered by a potential loss event.

Specifically, the model addresses the IFRS 9 
requirements on measurement of expected credit 
losses based on reasonable and supportable 
information that is available without undue cost or 
effort, including historical, current and forecasted 
information.

This model outlines three stages based on changes 
in the exposure’s credit risk since the date of initial 
recognition.

Stage I includes exposures that have not had 
a significant increase in credit risk since initial 
recognition or that have low credit risk at the reporting 
date, including those that transfer back from Stage II 
due to decrease in credit risk. For these exposures, 
one-year expected credit losses are recognised in 
the profit or loss and a loss allowance is established. 
One-year expected losses refer to the expected credit 
losses that result from default events possible within 
12 months after the reporting date.

Stage II includes exposures that have had a significant 
increase in credit risk since initial recognition (unless 
they have low credit risk at the reporting date). For 
these assets, lifetime expected losses are recognised. 
Lifetime expected losses are the expected credit 
losses that result from all possible default events over 
the expected life - maturity of a loan.

Stage III includes exposures that have objective 
evidence of impairment at the reporting date. For these 
assets, lifetime expected losses are recognised and 
interest revenue is calculated on the amortized cost. ).

Write-off policy

The Bank writes off a loan/security balance (and any 
related allowances for impairment losses) when it is 
determined that the loans/securities are uncollectible. 
This determination is reached after considering 
information such as the occurrence of significant 

changes in the borrower/issuer’s financial position 
such that the borrower/issuer can no longer pay the 
obligation, or that proceeds from collateral will not be 
sufficient to pay back the entire exposure. The smaller 
the outstanding amount, the higher the number of 
days in arrears and the greater the uncertainties 
surrounding recoveries (such as an unpredictable 
legal environment) are, the smaller will be the chances 
of recovery by the Bank.

Investments securities measured through FVOCI 
(2017: financial assets available-for-sale)

Investments in debt securities are with sovereign 
issuers, central banks and other supranational 
borrowers rated as AA- or higher by Fitch, S&P or 
Moody’s. Exposure to debt securities is regulated 
by the Investment Policy. Investments are allowed 
only in liquid securities that have high credit ratings. 
The maximum exposure to credit risk is represented 
by the carrying amount of each financial asset in the 
statement of financial position. 
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The table below presents the entire portfolio, which includes non-rated Kosovo Government securities. 

Lending commitments and financial guarantees

The maximum exposure from financial guarantees represents the maximum amount that the Bank would pay if the guarantee is called on, which 
may be significantly greater than the amount recognized as a liability. The maximum credit exposure for lending commitments is the full amount 
of the commitment (see Note 26).

(ii) Risk limit control and mitigation policies

The Bank manages limits and controls the concentrations of credit risk wherever they are identified in particular to individual counterparties and 
groups, and to affiliates.

The Bank structures the levels of credit risk it undertakes by placing limits on the amount of risk accepted in relation to a single borrower, or 
group of borrowers, and to geographical and industry segments. Such risks are monitored on a regular basis and are subject to an annual or 
more frequent review, if necessary. Limits on the level of credit risk by product, region and industry sector are approved by the Board of Directors.
Exposure to credit risk is also managed through regular analysis of the ability of borrowers and potential borrowers to meet interest and capital 
repayment obligations and by changing these lending limits where appropriate. Other controls and mitigation measures are outlined below.
Collateral held and other credit enhancements, and their financial effect

The Bank employs a range of policies and practices to mitigate credit risk, the most common of which is the security for fund advances. The Bank 
implements guidelines on the acceptability of specific classes of collateral or credit risk mitigation. The principal collateral types for loans and 
advances are:

• Mortgages over residential properties;
• Charges over business assets such as premises, equipment and inventory; and
• Charges over cash and cash equivalents (cash collateral).
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(ii) Risk limit control and mitigation policies (continued)

Collateral held and other credit enhancements, and their financial effect (continued)

Loans to corporate entities and individuals are generally secured; private individual overdrafts and credit cards issued to individuals are 
secured by cash collateral or other types of collateral determined with a decision of credit committees.
In addition, in order to minimize the credit loss the Bank will seek additional collateral from the counterparty as soon as impairment 
indicators are noted for the relevant individual loans and advances.
The financial effect of collateral is presented by disclosing collateral values separately for:
- those assets where collateral and other credit enhancements are equal to or exceed carrying value of the asset (“over-collateralised 
assets”); and
- those assets where collateral and other credit enhancements are less than the carrying value of the asset (“under-collateralised assets”).

The fair value of the collateral is evaluated by the Bank on an individual basis. The assessed values are generally determined with reference 
to the market. Expected income from collateral liquidation is also taken into account in calculation of individual impairment provisioning.

(iii) Concentration of credit risk

Concentrations arise when a number of counterparties are engaged in similar business activities, or activities in the same geographical 
region, or have similar economic features that would cause their ability to meet contractual obligations to be similarly affected by changes 
in economic, political or other conditions. Concentrations indicate the relative sensitivity of the Bank’s performance to developments 
affecting a particular industry or geographical location.

Geographical sectors

The following table breaks down the Bank’s main credit exposure at their gross amount, as categorised by geographical region as at 31 
December 2018 and 2017. The Bank has allocated exposures to regions based on the country of domicile of its counterparties.
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5. Financial risk management (continued)

(a) Credit risk (continued)

(iii) Concentration of credit risk (continued)

(b) Market risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as interest rate, equity prices, foreign exchange rates and credit spreads (not relating to 
changes in the obligor’s/issuer’s credit standing) will affect the Bank’s income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The objective of 
market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters, while optimising the return on risk.

(i) Foreign currency risk
Currency risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in foreign exchange rates. The Bank does not aim to 
profit from speculative transactions. The Bank tries to keep its open foreign currency position close to zero at all times. Open currency position 
limits and risk taking capacity for the Bank are set by their respective policies, which are approved by the Board of Directors, and reviewed by the 
Risk Monitoring Function. In addition regulatory limits are at all times adhered to by the Bank.
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Treasury unit assesses foreign exchange rate developments with reference to all material currency positions. Major changes in the structure 
of assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currency and their impact are reviewed before trades are executed by the bank’s treasury 
front office department.

Treasury unit also observes the financial market and informs the Risk Monitoring Function regularly and in case of significant developments 
that may influence the currency risk situation of the bank.

Even though the bank aims to keep its currency position as close as possible to zero, there may be occasions where the bank is still affected 
by unpredicted volatility of exchange rates. Therefore, the Risk Monitoring Function performs stress tests and reports the effects in P&L of 
the bank on monthly basis.

Official exchange rates for major currencies used in the translation of the balance sheet items denominated in foreign currencies were as 
follows (in EUR):

The following tables summarise the assets and liabilities of the Bank denominated in foreign currencies as of 31 December 2018 and 2017 
as translated into EUR ‘000.
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5. Financial risk management (continued)

(b) Market risk (continued)

(i) Foreign currency risk (continued)
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The table below summarises the sensitivity analysis for foreign currency risk and the effect on the 
profit or loss and net equity of the Bank net of tax:

(ii) Interest rate risk

The Bank is exposed to various risks associated with the effects of fluctuations of market interest rates 
on its financial position and cash flows. ProCredit Bank does not aim to earn profits through excessive 
maturity transformation, or other forms of speculations in the interest rate market. Instead, the Bank 
seeks to ensure that the structure of assets and liabilities is balanced across all maturities.

The Bank’s interest rate risk management is in accordance with Basel II, taking into consideration as 
interest rate sensitive only the principal (nominal value); accrued and fair value changes are considered 
as non-interest rate sensitive.

The tables below summarize the Bank’s exposure to interest rate risks. Included in the tables are the 
Bank’s monetary assets and liabilities with both fixed and non-fixed interest rates.
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5. Financial risk management (continued)

(b) Market risk (continued)

(ii) Interest rate risk (continued)
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5. Financial risk management (continued)

(b) Market risk (continued)

(ii) Interest rate risk (continued)
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The analysis and calculations are done to quantify the effect on the interest rate movements on economic value of capital and interest earning 
capacities over a certain period of time, and consequently to mitigate risks which have an impact on these two parameters. Considering EUR and 
USD denominated asset and liability structures as at 31 December 2018 and 2017, and assuming a parallel shift of interest rate for +/-50bp in rate 
sensitive assets and liabilities, the Bank’s interest rate risk profile is presented below, where negative figures represent losses to profit or loss and 
decrease of net equity:

(c) Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Bank will no longer be able to meet its current and future payment obligations in full, or in a timely manner. The Bank 
must therefore maintain at all times sufficient liquid funds available to meet its obligations, even in view of potential extraordinary circumstances. 
Liquidity risk is also the risk that additional funding can no longer be obtained, or can only be obtained at increased market interest rates. It can be 
caused by market disruptions or credit downgrades which may cause certain sources of funding to become unavailable. To mitigate liquidity risk, the 
Bank diversifies funding sources and manages the assets with liquidity caution, maintaining a balance of cash and cash equivalents sufficiently enough 
to meet immediate liability calls.

The table below presents the liquidity analysis of undiscounted remaining contractual maturities at the reporting date grouped by expected maturi-
ties of the financial assets and liabilities. The amounts disclosed in the first part of the table are contractual discounted cash flows, whereas the Bank 
manages the inherent liquidity risk on an expected basis, based on expected undiscounted cash inflows and outflows reported on the second part. 
In transforming the liabilities from contractual to expected, the Bank considers two sets of assumptions: first assumptions which are recommended 
by ProCredit Holding and which are based on German Liquidity Regulation; and second assumptions are derived from historical analysis of customer 
deposits and their withdrawal pattern.

The Bank aims to keep the expected cumulative maturity gap positive at all times. Should the expected cumulative maturity gap be negative not positive 
the Bank considers the liquidity as a “watch liquidity position”.

The figures reported on the reporting tool below do not match with the statement of financial position figures, which is due to the fact that apart from on-
balance positions the Bank has taken into consideration the off-balance sheet positions as well. All financial assets and liabilities are reported based on 
the timing when liabilities (including contingent liabilities from Bank’s guarantees and letters of credit and other credit related commitments) become 
due and assets can be used as repayment source (including the off balance sheet items like unused irrevocable and unconditional credit commitments 
which the Bank can use as liquidity source at any time without a prior approval).

In the liquidity gap table presented below the following definitions are considered relevant:

• Assets 1 - are assets which do not have a contractual maturity and/or can be converted into cash very quickly;
• Assets 1-S – are assets that have a contractual maturity and the distribution into the time buckets is based on the remaining maturities;
• Liabilities 1 – are liabilities which contractually are due on demand; and
• Liabilities 1-S – are liabilities that have a contractual maturity and the distribution into the time buckets is based on the remaining maturities.
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5. Financial risk management (continued)

(c) Liquidity risk (continued)
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5. Financial risk management (continued)

(c) Liquidity risk (continued)

For liquidity purposes the Bank classifies demand and saving deposits as due on demand and maturing within one month. As a result, the contrac-
tual liquidity gap of up to twelve months is increased. However, the possibility that large amounts of customer deposits will leave the Bank is very 
unlikely. Therefore the Bank does not consider having the liquidity gap in short term. It rather focuses on expected maturity gap which represents a 
more likely scenario. The Bank is maintaining a portfolio of highly marketable financial assets (available for sale financial assets) that can easily be 
liquidated as protection against any unforeseen interruption to cash flow. The management of the Bank is monitoring liquidity ratios against internal 
and regulatory requirements on a daily, weekly and monthly basis. As a result, Management believes that the Bank has no short term liquidity gap. 
During 2018, the Bank applied liquidity stress testing on a monthly basis for all operating currencies and discussed it regularly in the Bank’s Financial 
and Market Risk Management Committee and ALCO. The stress test is performed applying four different scenarios as per Liquidity Risk Management 
policy, starting from less to more conservative scenarios. In case the Management Board and Risk Monitoring Function see any concerns under these 
scenarios, the Bank takes the necessary measures to minimise any risk.
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(d) Capital management risk

The Bank’s objectives when managing capital are: (i) to comply with the capital requirements set by the Central Bank of Kosovo (CBK); (ii) to 
safeguard the Bank’s ability to continue as a going concern so that it can continue to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other 
stakeholders, and (iii) to maintain a strong capital base to support the development of its business.

Capital adequacy and the use of regulatory capital are monitored monthly by Bank’s management, employing techniques based on the 
guidelines of the CBK. The required information is provided to the CBK on a quarterly basis.

The risk-weighted assets are measured by means of a hierarchy of five risk weights classified according to the nature of and reflecting an 
estimate of credit, market and other risks associated with each asset and off-balance sheet exposure, with some adjustments to reflect the 
contingent nature of certain potential losses.

The CBK requires the Bank to hold the minimum level of the regulatory capital of EUR 7,000 thousand, to maintain a ratio of Tier I capital to 
the risk-weighted assets (the ‘Basel ratio’) at or above the minimum of 8% (Actual 2018: 15.72%) and to maintain a total regulatory capital, 
Tier II, to risk-weighted assets at or above the minimum 12% (Actual 2018: 18.17%) Therefore, based on the respective ratios, the bank was 
in compliance with the capital adequacy requirements as at the reporting dates, at 31 December 2018 and 2017.

As at 31 December 2018 and 2017 the Bank’s capital adequacy ratios measured in accordance with the CBK rules are as follows:
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(e) Risk bearing capacity

In addition to regulatory capital ratios, the Bank assesses 
its capital adequacy by using the concept of risk bearing 
capacity to reflect the specific risk profile of the Bank, i.e. 
comparing the potential losses arising from its operation 
with the Bank’s capacity to bear such losses. The following 
concepts were used to calculate potential losses in the dif-
ferent risk categories:

• Credit risk (clients): Based on a regularly updated migra-
tion analysis on the loan portfolio, the historical loss rates 
and their statistical distribution is calculated. The histori-
cal loss rates in different arrears categories (at a 95% con-
fidence level) are applied to the loan portfolio to calculate 
potential loan losses.
• Counterparty risk: The calculation of potential losses 
due to counterparty risk is based on the probability of de-
fault arising from the respective international rating of the 
counterparty or its respective country of operation (after 
adjustment).
• Market risks: Whereas historical currency fluctuations 
are statistically analysed and highest variances (99% con-
fidence level) are applied to current currency positions, in-
terest rate risk is calculated by determining the economic 
value impact of a standard interest rate shock for EUR/USD 
(2 percentage points, Basel interest rate shock) and higher 
(historical) shock levels for other currencies.
• Operational risk: The Basel II Standard approach is used 
to calculate the respective value.
The Bank showed a modest level of utilization of its RAtCR 
as of 31 December 2018. Counterparty and market risk 
limit utilization are again low, reflecting the risk-averse 
management approach which guides the Bank’s treasury 
operations. The economic capital required to cover opera-
tional risk is calculated according to the Basel II standard 
approach. Data collected during 2018 in the Risk Event 
Database (RED), which captures risk event data on a bank 
and group-wide scale, indicates a low level of operational 
risk. All risks combined, as quantified by the methods es-
tablished by the Bank’s policies, are below the limit of 60% 
of the Bank’s total risk bearing capacity.

6. FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities 
that are traded in active markets are based on quoted mar-
ket prices or dealer price quotations. For all other financial 
instruments, the Bank determines fair values using other 
valuation techniques. For financial instruments that trade 
infrequently and have little price transparency, fair value is 
less objective, and requires varying degrees of judgement 
depending on liquidity, concentration, uncertainty of mar-
ket factors, pricing assumptions and other risks affecting 
the specific instrument.

a. Valuation models

The Bank measures fair values using the following fair val-
ue hierarchy, which reflects the significance of the inputs 
used in making the measurements.

Level 1: inputs that are quoted market prices (unadjusted) 
in active markets for identical instruments assets or liabil-
ities that the entity can access at the measurement date.

Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within 
Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability ei-
ther directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from 
prices). This category includes instruments valued using: 
quoted market prices in active markets for similar instru-
ments; quoted prices for identical or similar instruments in 
markets that are considered less than active; or other valu-
ation techniques in which all significant inputs are directly 
or indirectly observable from market data.

Level 3: inputs that are unobservable for the asset or li-
ability. This category includes all instruments for which 
the valuation technique includes inputs not based on ob-
servable data and the unobservable inputs have a signifi-
cant effect on the instrument’s valuation. This category in-
cludes instruments that are valued based on quoted prices 
for similar instruments for which significant unobservable 
adjustments or assumptions are required to reflect differ-
ences between the instruments.

Valuation techniques include net present value and dis-
counted cash flow models, comparison with similar instru-
ments for which market observable prices exist, and other 
valuation models.

Assumptions and inputs used in valuation techniques 
include risk-free and benchmark interest rates, credit 
spreads and other premiums used in estimating discount 
rates, bond and equity prices, foreign currency exchange 
rates, equity and equity index prices and expected price 
volatilities and correlations. The objective of valuation 
techniques is to arrive at a fair value measurement that 
reflects the price that would be received to sell the asset 
or paid to transfer the liability in an orderly transaction be-
tween market participants at the measurement date.

The Bank uses widely recognized valuation models for 
determining the fair value of common and more simple 
financial instruments, such as interest rate and currency 
swaps that use only observable market data and require 
little management judgement and estimation. Observable 
prices or model inputs are usually available in the market 
for listed debt and equity securities. Availability of observ-
able market prices and model inputs reduces the need for 
management judgement and estimation and also reduces 
the uncertainty associated with determining fair values. 
Availability of observable market prices and inputs varies 
depending on the products and markets and is prone to 
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changes based on specific events and general conditions in the financial markets.

Fair value estimates obtained from models are adjusted for any other factors, such as liquidity risk or model uncertainties, to the extent that the Bank 
believes that a third party market participant would take them into account in pricing a transaction. Fair values reflect the credit risk of the instrument 
and include adjustments to take account of the credit risk of the Bank entity and the counterparty where appropriate.

Model inputs and values are calibrated against historical data and published forecasts and, where possible, against current or recent observed 
transactions in different instruments and against broker quotes. This calibration process is inherently subjective and it yields ranges of possible 
inputs and estimates of fair value, and management judgement is required to select the most appropriate point in the range.
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c. Financial instruments not measured at fair value for which fair value is disclosed

The following table sets out the fair values of financial instruments not measured at fair value and analyses them by the level in the fair 
value hierarchy into which each fair value measurement is categorized.

Where available, the fair value of loans and advances is based on observable market transactions. Where observable market transactions 
are not available then, fair value is estimated using fair value own model, such as discounted cash flow technique. Input into the valuation 
technique includes expected lifetime credit losses, interest rates and prepayment rates. For collateral-dependent impaired loans, the fair 
value is measured based on the value of the underlying collateral. For retail and smaller commercial loans, homogeneous loans are grouped 
into portfolios with similar characteristics.

The fair value of deposits from banks and customers is estimated using discounted cash flow techniques, applying the rates that are offered 
for deposits of similar maturities and terms. The fair value of deposits payable on demand is the amount payable at the reporting date.

The fair value of borrowings and subordinated debt is based on discounted contractual cash flows, taking into consideration market interest 
rates, which would have been payable by the Bank in need of replacing the old sources with the new ones of equal remaining maturity.
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7. NET INTEREST INCOME

Interest income from loans and advances to customers for the year ended 31 December 2018 includes EUR 1,105 thousand (2017: EUR 418 
thousand) and EUR 188 thousand (2017: EUR 875 thousand) related to accrued interest and unwinding of the discount of impaired loans 
and advances to customers.

8. NET FEE AND COMMISSION INCOME
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9. ADMINISTRATIVE AND OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES

At 31 December 2018 the Bank had 268 employees (2017: 393 employees).
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10. INCOME TAXES

Current income tax is calculated based on the income tax regulations applicable in Kosovo, using tax rates enacted at the reporting date. 
The tax rate on corporate income is 10% (2017: 10%).

Reconciliation of effective tax rate

The following is a reconciliation of income taxes calculated at the applicable tax rate of 10% (2017: 10%) to current income tax expense:

Prepaid income tax as at 31 December 2018 was EUR 1,139 thousand (31 December 2017: EUR 1,001 thousand).
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Movement in deferred tax balances

Deferred tax is calculated based on the enacted tax rate of 10% (2017: 10%).

11. CASH AND BALANCES WITH CENTRAL BANKS

Movement in impairment for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, charged to profit and loss is as following:
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In accordance with CBK regulation on Minimum reserve requirement, the bank should maintain the minimum required reserve ratio 10 
percent of the following liabilities with maturities up to one year: deposits, borrowings and securities.

The assets with which the bank can meet its demands for reserve are its deposits with the CBK and fifty per cent (50%) of the cash in its 
vaults. However, deposits with the CBK may not be less than half of the applicable minimum reserve requirement.

Cash and cash equivalents as at 31 December 2018 and 2017 are presented as follows:

12. LOANS AND ADVANCES TO BANKS

Movement in impairment for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, charged to profit and loss is as following:

The annual interest rates on time deposits with banks at the end of the reporting period were as follows:
• Deposits in EUR: from -0.45% to 0.00 % p.a. (2017: from -0.55% to 0.00 % p.a.); and
• Deposits in USD: from 1.30% to 2.89% p.a. (2017: from 0.00% to 1.62% p.a.).
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13. LOANS AND ADVANCES TO CUSTOMERS

The movement in the provision for impairment on loans to customers for the year ended December 31, 2018, based on IFRS 9 requirements, 
is as follows:
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The credit quality of neither past due nor impaired loans and advances to customers is presented below:

Significant borrowers refers to disbursement of loans of more than EUR 30 thousand.

The movements in the impairment allowances for loan losses at 31 December 2018 were as follows:

In charge of the year are included EUR 13,422 thousand income from reversal of loan loss provision (2017: EUR 10,970 thousand), EUR 
4,484 thousand recovery amount of written-off loans (2017: EUR 6,005 thousand) and loan loss provision expense EUR 8,353 thousand 
(2017: EUR 16,976 thousand).

At 31 December 2018, the loan portfolio includes loans to employees of the Bank of EUR 674 thousand (2017: EUR 728 thousand). These 
loans are monitored by the Central Bank of Kosovo (“CBK”), which places a maximum allowed limit for such loans in relation to the 
Regulatory Capital of the Bank.
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14. INVESTMENT SECURITIES MEASURED AT FVOCI (2017: AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL ASSETS)

As at 31 December 2018, the Investment securities measured at FVOCI to EUR 84,636 (2017 Available-for-sale financial assets: EUR 
106,179). Please refer to note 2(j) and 6(a) for further information.

Movement in impairment for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, charged to profit and loss is as following:

15. INTANGIBLE ASSETS
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16. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
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17. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS

Other financial assets are neither past due nor impaired and are classified in the standard category as defined by the Bank’s credit risk rating. 
Receivables from clients are related to cash operations.

Movement in impairment for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, charged to profit and loss is as following:

18. OTHER ASSETS

The Bank has recognised for the first time repossessed assets as at 31 December 2017. Repossessed collateral represents real estate assets 
acquired by the Bank in settlement of overdue loans. The Bank expects to dispose of the assets in the foreseeable future. The Bank typically 
obtains repossessed assets at the third auction with a value of 1/3 of the valuation provided by the independent valuation specialists.

The initial amount of repossessed collateral was recognised based at the lower value between fair value less cost to sell and the carrying amount 
of the loan at the date of exchange. The value of repossessed assets recognised for the first time as at 31 December 2018 amounts at EUR 1,014 
thousand (2017: 2,842 thousand).
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19. DUE TO BANKS

20. DUE TO CUSTOMERS

Balances due to customers (current accounts, savings and term deposits) include an amount of EUR 6,429 thousand (2017: EUR 5,228 
thousand) that represents cash collateral obtained for loans, guarantees, letters of credit and payment orders on behalf of customers.

The published annual interest rates at 31 December 2017 and 2016 were as follows:

21. OTHER FINANCIAL LIABILITIES
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22. OTHER LIABILITIES

23. BORROWINGS AND SUBORDINATED DEBT

Included in term deposits is also the accrued interest of term deposits and borrowings and subordinated debts. Movements in interest 
accrued as at 31 December 2018 and 2017 are presented below: 

Based on an agreement with EIB signed on November 2013, EUR 10,000 (2017: EUR 10,000 thousand) was obtained and as per agreement, 
the purpose of these funds is to finance projects that are undertaken by small and medium sized enterprises.

Subordinated debt of EUR 7,500 thousand (2017: EUR 7,500 thousand) was obtained from ProCredit Holding AG & CO.KGaA under a 
subordinated loan agreement signed on September 2014. The subordinated debt of EUR 7,645 thousand (2017: EUR 7,644 thousand) at 
31 December 2018, includes the principal and accrued interests.

Pursuant to the approval granted by the Central Bank of Kosovo, the subordinated debt was classified as Tier II capital and included in 
the regulatory capital of the Bank.
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24. SHAREHOLDER’S EQUITY AND RESERVES

Share capital At 31 December 2018 the authorised share capital comprised 12,269,242 ordinary shares (2017: 12,269,242), with a par value 
of EUR 5 each, while the shareholding structure was as follows:

All issued shares are fully paid. There are no restrictions, conditions or preferences attached to the ordinary shares.

Share premium Share premium of EUR 4,204 thousand (2017: EUR 4,204 thousand) represents the excess of contribution received over the 
nominal value of shares issued.

Contingency Reserve The contingency reserve of EUR 511 thousand was created in 2000, through the appropriation of retained earnings. The 
reserve represents a provision against political risk and cannot be distributed as dividend without prior approval of CBK.

Fair value reserve The fair value reserve includes the cumulative net change in the fair value of available-for-sale investments, until the 
investment is derecognised or impaired. The movements in the fair value reserve are presented as follows:

Dividends paid Dividends of EUR 20,000 thousand in total or EUR 1.63 per share (2017: EUR 10,000 thousand or EUR 0.82 per shares) were 
approved in June and paid to the sole shareholder in August 2018.

25. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The ProCredit Group (the ‘Group’) is made up of development-oriented commercial banks operating in the South Eastern and Eastern Europe 
and South America, as well as a bank in Germany. The Parent company of the Group is ProCredit Holding, a Frankfurt based entity which guides 
the Group. The Group does not have an ultimate controlling entity. At a consolidated level the Group is supervised by the German Federal 
Supervisory Authority (BaFin) and Deutsche Bundesbank. The ProCredit Group aims to combine high development impact with commercial 
success for its shareholders.

In the course of conducting its banking business, the Bank entered into various business transactions with related parties and the balances with 
the shareholder and affiliated entities at 31 December 2018 and 2017 are as follows:
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At 31 December 2018, the Bank had a standby line agreement with ProCredit Holding with an undrawn available limit of EUR 15,000 
thousand (2017: EUR 15,000 thousand), maturing on 11 March 2019 (the maturity date shall automatically be extended by one year) for 
the purposes of meeting general financing needs.

26. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Guarantees and letters of credit issued in favour of customers are secured by cash collateral, real estate and counter guarantees received 
from other financial institutions.

Commitments to extend credit represent contractual commitments to grant loans and revolving credits. Commitments generally have 
fixed expiration dates, or other termination clauses. Since commitments may expire without being drawn upon, the total amounts do not 
necessarily represent cash requirements.

Legal cases In the normal course of business the Bank is presented with legal claims and litigation; the Bank’s management is of the 
opinion that no material losses will be incurred in relation to legal claims outstanding as at 31 December 2018 except for those already 
provided for (Note 22).
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Operating lease commitments

The Bank has entered into commercial property leases for its offices. At 31 December 2018 and 2017, the Bank’s future minimum non-
cancellable lease commitments were EUR 147 thousand (2017: EUR 211 thousand).

27. EVENTS AFTER THE END OF THE REPORTING PERIOD

No material events subsequent to the reporting date have occurred which require disclosure in the financial statements.
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